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2004 was a very g@@d year for Trammell Crow Company.

Our financial performance was strong, materially

exceedjng expectations. This resulted from the combination

of strong execution by the company and an improving,

and in some areas strong, market. Importantly, cur

clients felt we did an excellent job of serving them. In

last year’s annual report we Sp@Med out a number

of objectives for 2004, and we did a very good job of

meeting those objectives. By vyear end 2004 we were

well positionea for 2005.

For several years now we have stated that providing
outstanding client service is our top priority. This
focus has served us well. Through independent surveys,
our clients have told us that our service has improved
substantially and is now a clear competitive advantage
for Trammell Crow Company. In addition, they have cited
improvements in a number of specific areas including
the deal flow we provide investor clients and the
sharing of best practices, proactive strategic thinking,

and technology platform we provide user clients.

Adding top tier talent was a big priority for
us in 2004. The growth of our outsourcing
business necessitated that we fill numerous alliance
director positions during the year (more on the
growth of our outsourcing business is contained in
the Global Services section below). We increased
our brokerage headcount during the year by
8%, adding many experienced and highly regarded
professionals to our team. With the market

continuing to improve for our Development and




Providing outstanding client

service will remain our tap priority.

Investment business, we added to our team both

in local markets and in national functional areas. Our
substantial increase in development starts and new
investments in real estate during 2004 highlight both
the opportunity and need for these professionals.

Trammell Crow Healthcare Services had an

is central to the strategy of making our business less
cyclical, and the execution of this part of the strategy
is progressing nicely.

Continuing the trend of the past several years,
we improved the infrastructure that serves our clients
externally, as well as that which supports our own
processes internally. Externally we rolled out the web-
based portal that incorporates the online tools we
make available to our clients. At the same time we added
enhanced online tools in the areas of aerial imagery
and demographic mapping to support our brokers

and developers. We also upgraded the benchmarking

outstanding year in 2004. Revenues for this business tools we use to measure the results we deliver for

grew by 33% to over $46 million and for the year our clients.
made up roughly 6% of our total revenues. We
have invested in a national team of healthcare industry
specialists who work with our local teams to
secure and deliver business. This formula is meeting
with considerable success as we landed new

assignments in several markets including Chicago,

Detroit, Seattle, Houston, Philadelphia, and Washington

DC. Growing Trammell Crow Healthcare Services
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BUILDING MANAGEMENT

We made a number of advancements in the
infrastructure that serves us internally. Our finance
and accounting teams were focused on improving
processes and continuing to enhance controls during
the year. Their efforts included undertaking the
work necessary to support management’s certification
of internal controls and the auditors’ testing of

these controls,

Financial Performance

Our financial performance exceeded expectations at
every turn in 2004. We began the year targeting 10%
to 20% growth in earnings per share and we
increased this target twice during the year. Ultimately,
we exceeded even the high end of the range in the
final guidance we gave, with earnings per share growth
of 84% from $0.57 in 2003 to $1.05 in 2004. On the
strength of an outstanding fourth quarter, our Global
Services segment posted an increase of 41% in income

before income taxes. Our investment in Savills ple,
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our alliance partner in Europe and Asia, performed
very well as a result of their impressive financial
results. Most significantly, our Development and
Investment business achieved outstanding results with
year-over-year growth in income before income taxes
exceeding 200%. Our profit growth in 2004 came
while we were investing heavily in our business —
building functional teams and adding producers and
leaders in key markets.

This financial performance allowed us to further
strengthen our balance sheet. During the year we
paid off our line of credit and continued to build our
cash position. Confident that our cash on hand and
borrowing capacity were more than sufficient to meet

our anticipated investment needs, we commenced
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a modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer seeking to
purchase over 4.4 million of our common shares. We
closed the tender on October 1, purchasing approximately
2.4 million shares for $38 million. Despite this use

of cash, our strong fourth quarter drove our year end
cash and cash equivalents to $163.6 million.

Our financial performance for the year fueled
increases in our stock price. After increasing 47%
during 2003, our stock rose 37% in 2004, closing
the year at $18.11.

©

Glehal Services
Within our Global Services segment, we made
substantial gains in a number of targeted areas. During
2004 we experienced great growth in new outsourcing
activity that should generate substantial revenues and
profits in 2005 and beyond. Many of the new
assignments entail a single line of business, thereby
providing growth opportunities in additional lines of
business as we perform for these clients. Project
management was a big driver in the success of our
outsourcing business in 2004, Revenues in this
product line grew by 40%, and it provided an entree
to several new corporate relationships.

In addition to adding new outsourcing clients,
we were successful in significantly expanding several

of our large outsourcing accounts during 2004 and, on

g
a gross margin basis, we renewed 99% of those that
rolled over. This, of course, is the ultimate measure
of client service. During the year we rolled out

a strategic consulting platform that focuses on
organizational, operational, and portfolio efficiencies
for our clients. Our clients asked for this capability,

and we believe it will enhance our competitive position
in the outsourcing business.

As noted above, we grew our brokerage ranks
significantly during the year, and we improved our
brokerage capabilities by bringing in strong new leaders
and upgrading the quality of our teams in a number
of markets. These actions, combined with an improving
market, allowed us to grow brokerage revenues by
18% in 2004. Our capital markets (formerly referred
to as investment sales) team had a particularly strong

year, growing their revenues by 40%.
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‘With: our investor clients, we implemented a
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Trammell Crow»%npany’s Devel‘opment and
Tn?e‘stment business is a major. differentiator between
us and otheT-large competitors in odr sector. In the
last several years,;?e\ha,xg‘iaken numerous steps, both
\int ms of operating proce@s\aglsl\ capital structdre,
to ;Msk in this business. Develqpment and
Investment is novm@siggned to contribute to the
pany through cycles,jﬁd—it _is a competitive

for us with many of our clients.

International Operations

the benefit of additional focus and resources,

our internatiopal operations expanded on several

fronts in 2004, TheTexe] of global transaction actii;ity -~

expanded with the addition 6f{] Barnicke as our

extlugive alliance partner in Canada atidnin terms of

the number
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d healthcare

lopment initiatives in Canada. We added | new

.

are pursuing industrial, airpor®

. ~..
corporate, theare, and government assignments’ins.__
Canada and Latin A

Asia-Pacific region expanded t&

ica. Our presence in the

eet the needs of our

’ \cl&nhifvho are interested in emerging mar.kets\
suc % and the Philippines. Global\

capabilities are 1 tant to many of our corporate

clients, and our servicw;hty outside the
United States played a positive role inbeth securing

-

s
new business and expanding existing r‘emmps‘;

¢ planning for continued growth in

international acti’ g

v by selectively expanding our
own network and aligning with-additional strategic




overheated. We are

partners. Given the increasingly international orientation
of many of our clients, we expect our expanding
capability outside the United States to help grow our

business both internationally and domestica]ly.

Looking Ahead

There are circumstances external to our company that
could have a material impact on our performance in
2005. Concern persists that interest rates and capitalization
rates will rise and, in turn, real estate values will

fall. Rental rates and occupancy rates are rising in many

markets, however, and this should have a counterbalancing

_ positive effect on values. As an asset class, returns

on real estate remain
relatively strong

and we have yet to
see a slowing of
investor demand. The
residential condominium
market is very hot

nationwide, maybe

taking advantage of
select opportunities
to address the current
demand, but we
will be careful in taking
exposure related
to this product. Job
growth, a big driver
in our business, appears to be picking up.

We believe the path we have been following is
responsive both to the external factors mentioned above
and to the competitive marketplace. The primary

objectives we have set for 2005 are consistent with those

of the past few years. Providing outstanding client
service will remain our top priority. We will continue
to add talented professionals to our brokerage,
development, and corporate alliance director ranks, with
a particular emphasis on diversity. This focus is
reflective of both our confidence in our ability to grow
and the need to service business we landed in 2004.

Within our Global Services business, we will focus
on expanding existing outsourcing clients and landing
new ones, while continuing to improve our capacity to
serve these clients internationally. As noted above,
we expect to grow our brokerage ranks and we expect
production per broker to continue to increase. We will
continue our efforts
to improve our
operating capability
in the areas of
building management
and project manage-
ment. Continued
success in these areas
will improve both
the product we offer
our clients and our
own margins.

We will seek to
add new capital
funds and programs
on the Development
and Investment
side of our business, and we will aggressively seek
new product for those funds and programs. Much of
this product will come in the form of new develop-
ment projects, but we also will increase our focus on

acquiring existing projects.




We are expecting significant continued growth
in our healthcare business and will be adding to our
capacity to support this growth. We are enthusiastic
about our prospects for acquiring and developing new
product for Pariners Health Trust, the investment
fund we have formed to aggregate ownership of medical

office buildings.

Internally, we expect to benefit further from the work
begun during 2004 by our finance and accounting
teams to streamline processes that should result in material
long run cost benefits to the company.

With favorable conditions returning to the sector, we
are targeting organic 1ong-term earnings growth
from 2004 forward averaging in the 20% range. Given
our 80%+ earnings growth from 2003 to 2004, it
may be appropriate to expect our earnings growth from
2004 to 2005 to be less than what we are targeting
as our long-term average. From 2004 to 2005, we will
be looking for continued strong profit growth in our
Global Services segment, but given the tripling of
Development and Investment profit from 2003 to
2004, a flat year-to-year performance for this segment
would be commendable. We are very encouraged
by activity levels in both of our business segments and
by our ability to support the growth of those businesses
with our financial and human resources.

We expect 2005 to be another very strong year for
Trammell Crow Company, and we will continue to push

initiatives to generate growth in future years.

Ut bt

Robert E. Sulentic
Chairman and CEO

~ Weeexpect 2003 to be another very strong

~year for Trammell Crow Company.
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Our Mission

To be the acknowledged leader in commercial

real estate services, known for:
A Superior customer service
A Operational excellence

A Rewarding work environment

A Value creation for all stakeholders

(e B 'S

Our Values

Respect
Treat all with digm‘t/v, value the contributions
qfothers, and help one another succeed.

Integrity
Uphold the highest standards in our
business practices.

Service
Deliver responsive, innovative solutions to

drive continuous improvement.

Excellence
Aspire to be the best in everything we do.




Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below have been derived from the consolidated financial statements of Trammell Crow Company
(the “Company”). The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 , 2004, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm,
whose report thereon appears elsewhere herein.

The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained elsewhere herein.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
(“FAS 144”), certain revenues and expenses for the three quarterly periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2004 and the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, have been reclassified to conform to the presentation for the quarter ended December 31,
2004. As a result, certain balances differ from the amounts reported in previously filed documents. See “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes,” for additional information.

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands, except share and per share data) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
User Services:
Facilities management $151,515 $201,573 $233,756 $208,936 $211,062
Corporate advisory services 143,536 115,599 108,414 123,335 143,266
Project management services ) 53,430 52,973 58,134 65,500 91,599

348,481 370,145 400,304 397,771 445,927
Investor Services:

Property management 165,081 174,279 147,613 143,727 137,193
Brokerage 145,761 115,463 95,657 95,593 114,478
Construction management 22,672 13,082 10,006 10,736 11,187
333,514 302,824 253,276 250,056 262,858
Development and construction 90,528 76,630 55,112 44,299 40,846
772,523 749,599 708,692 692,126 749,631
Gain on disposition of real estate 47,119 28,456 24,218 13,420 28,795
819,642 778,055 732,910 705,546 778,426
Cosis and Expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 437,891 477,628 472,810 452,185 493,438
Commissicns 119,702 94,655 87,396 98,957 120,357
Genera) and administrative 128,448 138,308 133,741 117,163 128,968
Depreciation 12,644 15,811 15,236 14,787 10,119
Amortization 9,335 8,164 2,579 1,991 1,395
Interest 16,947 15,057 10,219 6,088 4,573

Writedowns due to impairment of goodwill, intangibles
and investments 40,347 31,968 — — —_
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreement — 4,809 — — —_
Restructuring charges — 10,952 — — —
765,214 797,352 721,981 691,181 758,850
Operating income (loss) 54,428 (19,297) 10,929 14,365 19,576
Interest and other income 1,738 1,596 1,186 2,283 2,808

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes, minority interest and income from investments in

unconsolidated subsidiaries 56,166 (17,701} 12,115 16,648 22,384
Income tax (expense) benefit (22,492) 5,893 (5,400) (6,751) (8,501)
Minority interest, net of income taxes (2,567) 880 1,619 1,231 (3,006)
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries,

net of income taxes 4,347 5717 4,961 9,839 10,971
Income (loss) from continuing operations 35,454 (5,211) 13,295 20,967 21,848
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes' — — 3,358 73 17,271
Net income (loss) $ 35,454 $ (5,211) $ 16,653 $ 21,040 $ 39,119




Trammell Crow Company

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands, except share and per share data) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Income {loss) per share from continuing cperations:
Basic 1.02 % 0.15) $% 038 % 0.59 0.62
Diluted? ’ $ 0s8 $ ©.15) % 036 % 057 % 0.59
fncome per share from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes:

3
R4

Basic $ — — 3 009 $ — 3 0.50

Diluted $ — $ — % 009 $ — 3 0.46
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ 102 % (0. $ 047 % 059 $ 1.12

Diluted®? $ 098 % (0.15 % 045 $ 057 $ 1.05
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 34,851,738 35,356,710 35,741,754 35,572,483 35,064,453

Diluted® 36,147,744 35,356,710 36,797,012 36,780,515 37,239,801

Other Data:
Calculation of EBITDA® and EBITDA, as adjusted:

Net income (loss) $ 35454 % (5,211) % 16653 % 21,040 % 39,119
income tax expense (benefit)® 23,681 (926) 13,391 14,350 23,954
Depreciation® 12,544 15,811 15,236 15,001 10,209
Amortization” 9,335 8,164 2,593 1,995 1,395
Interest expense'® 16,947 15,057 10,346 7,369 4,830
ERITDA® 97,961 32,895 58,219 59,755 79,507
Writedowns due to impairment of goodwill, intangibles,
and investments 40,347 31,968 — — —
Minority interest related to goodwill writedown,
before income taxes — (2,346) — — -
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreement — 4,809 — — —
Restructuring charges — 10,952 — — —
EBITDA, as adjusted” $ 138308 $ 78278 % 58219 3 58,755 % 79,507
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 40631 % 28,826 % 71,863 % 48,810 $ 91,746
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (45,489) (7,862) 4,697 3,861 (34,410)
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 12,967 (38,542) (36,614) (25,060) 685
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 55,637 $ 38059 % 78,005 $ 105616 $ 163,637
Total assets 722,015 692,262 622,066 630,126 748,950
Long-term debt (excluding notes payable on real estate)
and capital lease obligations 88,242 62,013 22,717 13,106 377
Notes payable on real estate® 148,098 158,226 113,807 103,266 149,704
Total liabilities 391,274 377,565 273,841 273,601 363,244
Minority interest 39,782 28,574 39,871 28,896 - 44,756
Stockholders’ equity 290,958 286,123 308,354 327,629 340,950

(1) Income from discontinued operations includes the operations of real estale properties and gain on disposition of real estate properties held for sale or sold subsequent to fanuary 1, 2002,
in which the Company retained or expects o retain no continuing involvement, determined in accordance with FAS 144, Dispositions of real estate asscts have been and will continue to
be a significant part of the Company’s aclivities and, as a vesult of applying the provisions of FAS 144, the Company expects a greater amount of these activities to be classified as
discontinued operations in future periods as fewer asset dispositions will qualify for grandfathered treatment under FAS 144.

(2) The weighted average shares outstanding used to caleulate diluted earnings per share for 2001 excludes the dilulive effect of options, as their inclusion wonld have been anti-dilutive.

(3) EBITDA represents earnings before inlerest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. Management believes that EBITDA is a meaningful measure of the Company’s operating
performance, cash generation and ability to service debt. However, EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to: (i) net earnings (determined in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP’)); (it} operating cash flow (determined in accordance with GAAP); or (iti) liquidity. Management also befieves that EBITDA is
sometimes useful to compare the operating results of companies within an industry due to the fact that it eliminates the effects of certain financing and accounting decisions. The
Company’s calculation of EBITDA may differ from similarly titled items reported by other companies.

(4) EBITDA, as adjusted, represents EBITDA (as described in wote (3} above) before the 2000 and 2001 writedowns due to impairment of goodwill, intangibles and investments, net of
related minority interest, the 2001 restructuring charges and the 2001 change in fair value of the Company's inlerest rate swap agreement. Management believes these items ave not likely
to recur within two years, and. that excluding these items provides a more comparable measure of the Company’s results over the five-year period.

(5} Income tax expense (benefit) includes income laxes applicable to minority interest, income from investments in un lidated subsidiaries and discontinued operations, each of which is
presented net of income taxes in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

(6) Depreciation includes 3214 and 890 related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
(7) Amortization includes $14 and $4 related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
(8) Interest expense includes $127, $1,281 and 8257 related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

(9) Notes payable on real estate includes current portion of notes payable on real estate, noies payable on veal estate, less current portion and notes payable included in liabilities related to
real estate and other assets held for sale.

®




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and

the other information included elsewhere in this report.

Overview

The Company delivers four core services ~ building management services, brokerage services, project management services and
development services — to both user and investor clients. The Company’s business is organized under two separate national leadership
structures. The Global Services Group includes substantially all of the building management services, brokerage services, and project
management services delivered to both user and investor clients, Substantially all of the Company’s real estate development and investment
activities are conducted through the Company’s Development and Investment Group. The Company’s revenues are generated primarily

in the United States, with approximately 97%, 97% and 96% of its revenues derived from domestic operations in each of 2002, 2003
and 2004, respectively. Revenues derived from various foreign operations comprised approximately 3%, 3% and 4% of the Company’s
total revenues in each of 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Approximately 92%, 91% and 91% of the Company's long-lived assets at
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, relate to the Company’s domestic operations, with the remaining portion of its long-
lived assets relating to various foreign operations.

The Company’s Global Services revenue streams consist primarily of payments made pursuant to service contracts and variable
transaction-oriented payments. The Company typically receives base monthly fees from clients for services provided under its
facilities management and property management contracts. The fees received by the Company for the provision of transaction services
(corporate advisory services and brokerage) are typically paid in connection with the consummation of a transaction such as the
purchase or sale of commercial property or the execution of a lease. The Company also earns fees from project and construction
management services that are typically determined by the size and cost of the project. The arrangement may be part of a
management services contract or an individual project engagement. In addition, the Company earns incentive fees under various
management contracts that are based on quantitative and/or qualitative criteria, such as achieving cost savings levels or certain
client service ratings. Global Services segment revenues were §710.8 million in 2004. Revenues generated from the Global Services
segment were $685.6 million, $676.5 million, $656.9 million and $649.6 million in 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. At
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, total assets attributable to the Global Services segment were $253.0 million, $296.9 million
and $319.5 million, respectively. Other financial information about the Global Services segment is contained in “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 22.

The Company’s Development and Investment revenue streams consist primarily of payments related to individual real estate
development projects. Revenues from the Company’s development activities consist of development and construction fees, which are
typically based upen a negotiated percentage of a project’s cost, and incentive development fees for completing a development
project under budget, within certain critical time deadlines and/or for achieving specified leasing targets. Income from the Company’s
investment activities primarily consists of gains on disposition of real estate and income from unconsolidated subsidiaries that hold
real estate assets. Dispositions of real estate in which the Company has no significant continuing involvement in the operations of the
asset after its disposition are reported as discontinued operations in accordance with FAS 144, The Company’s Development and
Investment revenue streams also include rental revenue earned by the Company’s consolidated operating real estate properties. The
Company has limited control over the timing of the disposition of certain of these investments and the recognition of any related
gain or loss. Because the disposition or impairment of a single significant investment can impact the Company’s financial performance
in any period, these investment activities create fluctuations in the Company’s revenues. Because the Company’s investment strategy
often entails making relatively modest investments alongside its investor clients, its ability to conduct these activities depends in part on
the supply of investment capital for commercial real estate and related assets. In 2004, income before income taxes from development
and investment activities was $24.8 million. Income before income taxes generated from the Development and Investment segment for
2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $40.4 million, $8.3 million, $15.3 million and $8.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2002,
2003 and 2004, total assets attributable to the Development and Investment segment were $369.1 million, $333.2 million and $429.5
million, respectively. Other financial information about the Development and Investment segment is contained in “Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements, Note 22

@



Trammell Crow Company

The Company’s expenses typically consist of salaries, wages and benefits, commissions, general and administrative expenses,
depreciation and amortization expense and interest. Salaries, wages and benefits and commissions constitute a majority of the Company’s
total costs and expenses.

Over the last three years, an average of 66% of the Company’s net income has been generated in the fourth quarter, due
primarily to a demonstrated tendency of participants in the commercial real estate industry to complete transactions toward year-
end. In addition, certain of the Company’s outsourcing contracts provide for incentive payments if the Company achieves certain
performance targets, which are generally recognized in the fourth quarter. In contrast, the Company’s non-variable operating expenses,
which are treated as expenses when incurred during the year, are relatively constant on a quarterly basis. See “—Quarterly Results

of Operations and Seasonality”

Critical Accounting Policies

Management of the Company is required to make certain estimates and assumptions in connection with the preparation of its
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. These estimates and assumptions impact the reported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. They also impact the
reported amount of net earnings during any period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Certain of the Company’s accounting
policies and estimates have a more significant impact on its financial statements than others, due to the magnitude of the underlying

financial statement elements.

Consolidation
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the
Company is the primary beneficiary and other subsidiaries over which the Company has control.

The Company’s determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to its variable interests, including co-investments
with its clients, is based on Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46R”). The Company consolidates any VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary
and discloses significant variable interests in VIEs of which the Company is not the primary beneficiary.

The Company determines if an entity is a VIE under FIN 46R based on several factors, including whether the entity’s total equity
investment at risk upon inception is sufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional subordinated financial support
provided by any parties, including equity holders. The Company makes judgments regarding the sufficiency of the equity at risk based
first on qualitative analysis, then quantitative analysis if necessary. In a quantitative ana]ysis, the Company incorporates various
estimates, including estimated future cash flows, asset hold periods and discount rates, as well as estimates of the probabilities of various
scenarios occurring. If the entity is a VIE, the Company then determines whether it will absorb the majority of expected losses
and/or receive the majority of expected returns, and if so, consolidates the entity as the primary beneficiary. This determination of
whether the Company will absorb the majority of expected losses and/or receive the majority of expected returns includes any
impact of an “upside economic interest” in the form of a “promote” that the Company may have. A promote is a disproportionate interest
built into the distribution structure of the entity based on the entity’s achievement of certain return hurdles. The Company
determines whether an entity is a VIE and, if so, whether it should be consolidated by utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently
subjective. If the Company made different judgments or utilized different estimates in these evaluations, it could result in differing
conclusions as to whether or not an entity is a VIE and whether or not to consolidate such entity. The Company is not required to
reconsider the entity’s VIE status if the entity incurs losses that exceed expectations, but is required to reconsider the status if the
structure of the entity changes.

The Company’s determination of the appropriate accounting method for all other investments in subsidiaries, including those that
are not primary beneficiary interests in VIEs, is based on the amount of control or influence the Company has (considering its
ownership interest) in the underlying entity. The Company consolidates those other subsidiaries over which it exercises control. Those
other investments in subsidiaries where the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence (but not control) over
operating and financial policies of such subsidiaries (including certain subsidiaries where the Company has less than 20% ownership)

are accounted for on the equity method. All remaining investments of the Company are accounted for on the cost method.
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Accounting for an investment as either consolidated or by the equity method generally would have no impact on the Company’s net
income or stockholders’ equity in any accounting period, but a change in treatment would impact individual income statement and
balance sheet items, as consolidation would effectively “gross up” the Company’s income statement and balance sheet. However, if
control aspects of an investment accounted for by the cost method were different, it could result in the Company being required to
account for an investment by consolidation or by the equity method. Under the cost method, the investor only records its share of the
underlying entity’s earnings to the extent that it receives dividends from the investee; when the dividends received by the investor
exceed the investor’s share of the investee’s earnings subsequent to the date of the investor’s investment, the investor records a reduction
in the basis of its investment. Under the cost method, the investor does not record its share of losses of the investee. Conversely,
under either consolidation or equity method accounting, the investor effectively records its share of the underlying entity’s net income
or loss, to the extent of its investment or its guarantees of the underlying entity’s debt. At December 31, 2004, $2.4 million of the
Company’s $74.1 million total investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries relates to investments that are accounted for using the cost
method. Accounting for an investment under either the equity or cost method has no impact on the evaluation of impairment of the

underlying investment; under either method, impairment losses are recognized upon evidence of other-than-temporary losses of value.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, which

has four basic criteria that must be met before revenue is recognized:

*  existence of persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;
*  delivery has occurred or services have been rendered;
* the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed and determinable; and

*  collectibility is reasonably assured.

The Company’s various revenue recognition policies are consistent with these criteria. The revenues of the Company’s business
that are subject to the most judgment are its brokerage commission revenues and incentive-based management and development fees.
The judgments involved in revenue recognition are understanding the complex terms of the agreements and determining the
appropriate time to recognize revenue for each transaction based on such terms. Each transaction is evaluated to determine: (1) at
what point in time revenues are earned, (2) whether there are contingencies involved that would impact the timing of recognition
of revenue, and (3) how and when such contingencies will be resolved. The actual timing of revenue recognition could vary if
different judgments were made,

The Company’s brokerage commission revenues are comprised of commissions earned for investment sales, project leasing and tenant
representation transactions. Revenues from investment sales transactions are recognized upon the closing of a sale and are generally
paid to the Company by the seller out of the sale proceeds; therefore, there is generally no estimation or judgment involved in the recognition
of these revenues. Project leasing and tenant representation commissions are generally recorded half upon execution of a lease contract,
and the remainder upon tenant occupancy. The Company performs thousands of project leasing and tenant representation transactions
annually, each of which is typically governed by a separate commission agreement. While the majority of these agreements generally
provide that half of the commission is earned upon execution of a lease contract and half upon tenant occupancy, agreements do vary as to
their terms and complexity, usually due to negotiation of the commission agreement language with the client. If there are
any contingencies with respect to any portion of the commission, that portion of the commission is not recognized as revenue until the
contingency is resolved. The unique nature and complexity of each brokerage transaction require the Company to use varying levels of
judgment in determining timing of revenue recognition.

The Company earns incentive development and management fees from its development services and certain services provided to
user clients in the Company’s Global Services segment, including facilities management services, project management services and
corporate advisory services. These fees are recognized when quantitative criteria have been met (such as specified leasing or budget
targets, client service levels, or achieved levels of operating expense savings) or, for those incentive fees based on qualitative criteria,
upon approval of the fee by the clients. Certain incentive development fees allow the Company to share in any increase in the fair value

of the developed real estate asset. This sharing creates additional revenue potential to the Company with no exposure to loss other
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than opportunity cost. The Company’s incentive development and management fee revenues are not recognized to the extent that such
revenues are subject to future performance contingencies, but rather once the contingency has been resolved. The unique nature and

complexity of each incentive fee require the Company to use varying levels of judgment in determining timing of revenue recognition.

Carrying Value of Real Estate, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s total real estate, goodwill and intangible assets were $221.0 million, §74.4 million and
$3.5 million, respectively (30%, 10% and 0.5% of total assets, respectively). Goodwill reflects the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of the net assets of real estate service companies acquired by the Company primarily in 1998 and 1999. Intangible assets
primarily include management contracts and employment/non-compete agreements for certain employees entered into in connection
with their hiring, Intangible assets also include upfront cash payments made to clients and certain contract acquisition costs incurred upon
initiation of new long-term outsourcing contracts. The Company accounts for its real estate, goodwill and other intangibles in accordance
with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Geodwill and Other Intangible Assers (“FAS 1427) and FAS 144. These
statements require the Company to evaluate the carrying value of its real estate, goodwill and intangible assets based on assumptions and
estimates of fair value and future cash flow information. These assumptions and estimates developed by the Company may differ from
actual results, If different assumptions and estimates were used, carrying values could be adversely impacted, resulting in writedowns that
would adversely affect the Company’s earnings.

Real Estate

With respect to the Company’s real estate assets, FAS 144 establishes restrictive criteria to classify an asset as “held for sale.” At
December 31, 2004, assets included in real estate held for sale include only completed assets or land for sale in its present condition
that meet all of the FAS 144 “held for sale” criteria. All other real estate assets are classified in one of the following line items in the
Company’s balance sheet: (i) real estate under development (current), which includes real estate that the Company is in the process of
developing that is expected to be completed and disposed of within one year of the balance sheet date; (ii) real estate under development
{non-current), which includes real estate that the Company is in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and disposed
of more than one year from the balance sheet date; or (iii) real estate held for investment, which consists of completed assets not
expected to be disposed of within one year of the balance sheet date and land on which development activities have not yet commenced.
Any asset reclassified from real estate held for sale to real estate under development (current or non-current) or real estate held for
investment is measured individually at the lower of its fair value at the date of the reclassification or its carrying amount before it was
classified as “held for sale,” adjusted (in the case of real estate held for investment) for any depreciation that would have been
recognized had the asset been continuously classified as real estate held for investment.

Real estate held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If an asset’s fair value
less cost to sell, based on discounted future cash flows or market comparisons, is less than its carrying amount, an allowance is
recorded against the asset.

Real estate under development and real estate held for investment are carried at cost less depreciation, as applicable. When
indicators of impairment are present, real estate under development and real estate held for investment are evaluated for impairment
and losses are recorded when undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by an asset are less than the asset’s carrying amount.
The amount of the impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is determined using
a discounted cash flow analysis or market comparisons. Buildings and improvements included in real estate held for investment
are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, generally 39 years. Tenant improvements included in real
estate held for investment are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful life or the terms
of the respective leases.

The Company evaluates each of its real estate assets on a quarterly basis in order to determine the classification of each asset in the
Company’s balance sheet. This evaluation requires judgment by the Company in considering certain criteria that must be evaluated
under FAS 144, such as the estimated time to complete assets that are under development and the timeframe in which the Company
expects to sell its real estate assets. The classification of real estate assets determines which real estate assets are to be depreciated as
well as what method is used to evaluate and measure impairment. Had the Company evaluated its assets differently, the balance sheet

classification of such assets, depreciation expense and impairment losses could have been different.
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When acquiring real estate with existing buildings, the Company allocates the purchase price between land, building and intangibles
related to in-place leases, if any, based on their relative fair values. The fair values of acqﬁired land and buildings are determined based
on an estimated discounted future cash flow model with lease-up assumptions as if the building was vacant upon acquisition. The fair
value of in-place leases includes the value of net lease intangibles for above or below-market rents and tenant origination costs,
determined on a lease by lease basis using assumptions for market rates, absorption periods, lease commissions and tenant improvements.
The capitalized values for both net lease intangibles and tenant origination costs are amortized over the term of the underlying leases.
Amortization related to net lease intangibles is recorded as either an increase to or a reduction of rental income and amortization for
tenant origination costs is recorded to amortization expense. If the Company used different estimates in these valuations, the
allocation of purchase price to each component could differ, which could cause the amount of amortization related to lease intangibles
and tenant origination costs to be different, as well as depreciation of the related building,

FAS 144 extends the reporting of a discontinued operation to a “component of an entity,” and further requires that a component be
classified as a discontinued operation if the operations and cash flows of the component have been or will be eliminated from the
ongoing operations of the entity in the disposal transaction and the entity will not have any significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the component after the disposal transaction. As defined in FAS 144, a “component of an entity” comprises operations
and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Because
each of the Company’s real estate assets is generally accounted for in a discrete subsidiary, almost every real estate asset constitutes a
component of an entity under FAS 144, increasing the likelihood that the disposition of assets the Company holds for sale in the ordinary
course of business must be reported as a discontinued operation unless the Company has significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the asset after its disposition. Furthermore, operating profits and losses on such assets are required to be recognized and
reported as operating profits and losses on discontinued operations in the periods in which they occur. The Company has certain
real estate assets that are land parcels and coustitute a component of an entity. From time to time, the Company disposes of these land
parcels in smaller lots. An individual lot that is part of a larger land parcel does not constitute a component of an entity within the

meaning of paragraph 41 of FAS 144 until it is either classified as held for sale in accordance with FAS 144 or sold.

Goodwill

Under FAS 142, the Company’s reporting units are the basis of its annual goodwill impairment tests. The required impairment tests are
based on a comparison of the fair value of each of the Company’s reporting units to the carrying value of such unit. A writedown of
goodwill must be recorded if the fair value of a reporting unit falls below its carrying value. The Company has identified its reporting
units to mirror its two segments, Global Services and Development and Investment, as each segment’s underlying business units have
similar long-term economic characteristics and service deliveries. If the Company defined its reporting units differently, the results of its
annual impairment tests could be impacted. The Company performed its required annual impairment tests of goodwill in 2004, and has

determined that no impairment of goodwill exists at December 31, 2004.

Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets are evaluated for impairment when indicators of impairment are present. Impairment losses are
recorded when estimates of undiscounted future cash flows are less than the value of the underlying asset. The amount of any
impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the intangible asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is determined using a
discounted cash flow analysis. The determination of future cash flows is based on assumptions and estimates of forecasted financial
information that may differ from actual results.

In 2002, the Company recognized a writedown of $1.1 million (recorded as a reduction of facilities management revenues) due
to the impairment of an intangible related to an upfront cash payment made to a client upon inception of a management contract in a
previous period. The Company and the client mutually agreed to terminate the contract in 2002.

The Company has considered the average life of its acquired management contracts to determine the period over which to
amortize intangible assets related to these contracts, which is the Company’s estimate of the useful life of the underlying management
contracts. This estimate requires judgment by the Company, and had the Company chosen a shorter time period over which to
amortize such intangible assets, amortization expense would have increased in the earlier periods, adversely impacting the Company’s

results of operations in such periods. The Company amortizes intangible assets resulting from employment/non-compete
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agreements to compensation expense over the period of time that future services to the Company are required, as stipulated in the
applicable agreement. Intangible assets related to upfront cash payments made to clients and certain contract acquisition costs are

amortized as a reduction of the related revenue over the non-cancelable term of the underlying contract.

Self-Insurance
The Company is self-insured for portions of its health and workers’ compensation benefits to employees and general and
automotive liability claims.

The Company self-insures (through a health and welfare benefit trust) its health insurance benefits provided to substantially all of
its employees and has purchased stop-loss insurance to cover individual claims in excess of $250,000. On a quarterly basis, the
Company utilizes an independent actuary to evaluate the estimate of incurred but not reported claims under the Company's health
insurance programs. Each quarter, the Company adjusts its accrual to this estimate plus its share of unpaid reported claims. The
actuarial estimate of the Company’s exposure to health insurance claims is subjective, and the amount of claims actually incurred could
differ, which could result in increased or decreased expense in future periods. As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s liability
to the trust, primarily for unpaid claims (both reported and not reported) related to these health insurance benefits, is $2.1 million,
included in accrued expenses on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company’s wholly-owned captive insurance company, which is subject to applicable insurance rules and regulations, insures
the Company’s exposure related to workers’ compensation benefits provided to employees and purchases excess coverage from an
unrelated insurance carrier. The Company purchases general liability and automotive insurance through an unrelated insurance carrier.
The captive insurance company reinsures the deductibles. The captive insurance company also insures deductibles relating to other
coverages. Given the nature of these types of claims, it may take several years for resolution and determination of the cost of these
claims. The Company is required to estimate the cost of these claims in its financial statements, Exposure to workers’ compensation,
general liability and automotive claims is evaluated on an annual basis during the Company’s fourth quarter by an independent actuary.

The Company adjusts its annual expense based on this actuarial estimate, and utilizes this estimate as the basis for the next year’s
expense, until the actuary calculates the next annual estimate. The estimates that the Company utilizes to record its potential losses on
claims are inherently subjective, and actual claims could differ from amounts recorded, which could result in increased or
decreased expense in future periods. As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s reserve for claims under these insurance programs is
$13.7 million, of which $3.7 million is included in other current liabilities and the remainder is included in other liabilities on the

Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth items from the Company’s consolidated statements of income for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2004, as a percent of total revenue for the periods indicated.

Years Ended December 31, 2002 2003 2004
Revenues:
User Services:
Facilities management 31.9% 29.6% 27.1%
Corporate advisory services 14.8% 17.5% 18.4%
Project managemerit services 7.9% 9.3% 11.8%
54.6% 56.4% 57.3%
investor Services:
Property management 20.1% 20.4% 17.6%
Brokerage 13.1% 13.5% 14.7%
Construction management 1.4% 1.5% 1.4%
34.6% 35.4% 33.7%
Development and construction 7.5% 6.3% 5.3%
96.7% 98.1% 96.3%
Gain on disposition of real estate 3.3% 1.9% 3.7%
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefit 64.5% 64.1% 63.4%
Commissions 11.9% 14.0% 15.5%
General and administrative 18.2% 16.6% 16.5%
Depreciation 2.1% 2.1% 1.3%
Amortization 0.4% 0.3% 0.2%
Interest 1.4% 0.9% 0.6%
98.5% 98.0% 97.5%
Operating income 1.5% 2.0% 2.5%
Interest and other income 0.2% 0.4% 0.4%
Income from contiriuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and income
from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 1.7% 2.4% 2.9%
Income tax expense (0.7Y% (1.0)% (1.1)%
Minority interest, net of income taxes 0.2% 0.2% (0.4)%
Income from investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries, net of income taxes 0.6% 1.4% 1.4%
Income from continuing operations 1.8% 3.0% 2.8%
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 0.5% 0.0% 2.2%
Net income 2.3% 3.0% 5.0%
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Results of Operations -

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

In accordance with FAS 144, certain revenues and expenses for the three quarterly periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30,
2004 and the year ended December 31, 2003, have been reclassified to conform to the presentation for the quarter ended December 31,
2004. As a result, certain balances differ from the amounts reported in previously filed documents. See Income from Discontinued

Operations, Net of Income Taxes, below, for additional information.

For the Years Ended December 31, (dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 $ Change % Change
Revenues:
User Services:
Facilities management $211,062 $208,936 $ 2,126 1.0%
Corporate advisory services 143,266 123,335 19,931 16.2%
Project management services 91,599 65,500 26,099 39.8%
445,927 387,771 48,156 12.1%
Investor Services:
Property management 137,193 143,727 (6,534) (4.5)%
Brokerage 114,478 95,593 18,885 19.8%
Construction management 11,187 10,736 451 4.2%
262,858 250,056 12,802 5.1%
Development and construction 40,846 44,299 (3,453) (7.8)%
749,631 692,126 57,505 8.3%
Gain on disposition of real estate 28,795 13,420 15,375 114.6%
778,426 705,546 72,880 10.3%
Cost and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits ) 493,438 452,195 41,243 9.1%
Commissions 120,357 98,957 21,400 21.6%
General and administrative 128,968 117,163 11,805 10.1%
Depreciation 10,119 14,787 (4,668) (31.6)%
Amortization 1,395 1,991 (596) (29.9)%
Interest 4,573 6,088 (1,515) (24.9Y%
758,850 691,181 67,669 9.8%
Operating income 19,576 14,365 5211 36.3%
Interest and other income 2,808 2,283 525 23.0%
income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and
income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 22,384 16,648 5,736 34.5%
Income tax expense (8,501) (6,751) (1,750) (25.9)%
Minority interest, net of income taxes (3,006) 1,231 (4,237) (344.2)%
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, net of income taxes 10,971 9,839 1,132 11.5%
Income from continuing cperations 21,848 20,967 881 4.2%
income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 17,271 73 17,198 23,558.9%
Net income $ 39,119 $ 21,040 $18,079 85.9%

Revenues. Facilities management revenue increased slightly from 2003. This increase primarily resulted from an expansion of a client
relationship in the second quarter of 2004. The overall increase was offset by the termination of certain client relationships as part
of the Company’s wind-down of its centralized call center operations. Reimbursement of salaries, wages, benefits, and out-of-pocket
general and administrative costs, a component of facilities management revenue, increased $7.3 million in 2004, compared to 2003.
The composition of facilities management revenue, including management fees and reimbursements, can vary significantly from period
to period based on the terms of the underlying management agreements in effect each period.

Corporate advisory services revenue increased from 2003, primarily driven by increased commission revenues in 2004. The
increase was the result of growth in the number of tenant representation brokers as part of the Company’s focus on expanding its
brokerage network. In addition, transaction volumes have increased, reflecting clients’ increased confidence in the economic recovery.

The revenue growth in project management services was mainly the result of the expansion of services provided to existing
clients (due to increases in clients’ portfolios, the scope of the Company’s services required under certain outsourcing contracts and

transaction volume). Also, the Company has added new clients.
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The decrease in property management revenue was partially the result of decreased square footage under management in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The reduction in square footage primarily resulted from sales of buildings in the Company’s management portfolio
to REITs or other investors that self-manage their properties or use other service providers. In addition, some square footage decreases
resulted from clients taking services back in-house or to other service providers. These decreases were partially offset by additions to
square footage from new business.

The increase in brokerage revenue was driven by a ]arge increase in investment sales commissions, while project leasing
commissions increased slightly. Favorable capital markets fundamentals, including low interest rates, led to increased investment sales
transaction volumes, which contributed to the improvement in investment sales commissions. The addition of investment sales
brokers, resulting from the Company’s focus on expansion of its brokerage network, also contributed to the increase in such commissions.

Construction management revenue remained relatively flat in 2004 as compared to 2003, although the Company did experience
an increase in new projects in the second half of 2004. Construction management revenue is generated from services including space
planning and tenant finish coordination for investor clients in conjunction with property management and leasing assignments, and
are directly related to clients’ real estate demands.

Development and construction revenue decreased in 2004 primarily due to a decrease in incentive development fees, largely due to
the timing of significant transactions in 2004 as compared to 2003, In addition, the decrease in 2004 is due to a reduction in the
Company’s development starts and investments (including property acquisitions) in recent years. Typically, the impact of increases and
decreases in the Company’s development starts and investments is not reflected in financial results until later periods, and the
Company has experienced reduction in its 2004 development and construction revenue as a consequence of reduced 2002 and 2003
development starts and investments. However, development starts and investments began trending up in 2004 with 2004 starts more
than doubling those for 2003.

Historically, the Company primarily focused its commercial real estate development business on office, industrial and retail projects for
investor clients. Increasingly, however, the Company has focused on development for user clients, including corporations and those in the
healthcare sector. By expanding its focus on development for user clients, particularly those in the healthcare sector, the Company seeks to
mitigate the cyclicality traditionally inherent in the commercial development business. In addition, through High Street Residential, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company has expanded its focus to include development of mixed-use facilities with a
residential component, including condominium development and transit-oriented development. The Company is also directing its
efforts toward acquisitions, including those acquisitions where opportunities exist to add value through redevelopment or re-leasing.

The Company’s gain on disposition of real estate increased significantly in 2004 from 2003. During 2004, the Company sold
18 real estate projects for an aggregate net sales price of $127.3 million, resulting in an aggregate gain on disposition of $28.8 million,
including recognition of deferred gain of $0.4 million relating to dispositions in previous periods and interest forgiveness of
$0.1 million. In 2003, the Company sold 19 real estate projects for an aggregate net sales price of $67.1 million, resulting in an aggregate
gain on disposition of §13.4 million, including recognition of deferred gain of $0.3 million relating to dispositions in a previous period.

In addition, Development and Investment income is generated from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and from the
operation and/ or disposition of real estate classified as “discontinued operations.” The impact of Development and Investment project
sales accounted for as income from unconsolidated subsidiaries or as income from discontinued operations is a regular part of, and can
contribute significantly to, Development and Investment results in any given period.

Costs and Expenses. Salaries, wages and benefits expense includes all compensation paid to Company employees other than
brokerage commissions. As such, it includes salaries, benefits and annual incentive bonuses for employees whose compensation is
reimbursed by clients (“reimbursed employees™); salaries, benefits and annual incentive bonuses for employees whose compensation is
not so reimbursed (“unreimbursed employees”); long-term incentive compensation associated with restricted stock grants to
certain employees; and transaction-related incentive compensation other than brokerage commissions, primarily paid in connection
with development and investment transactions. The increase in 2004 was primarily driven by growth in salaries, wages and benefits
for reimbursed employees as the Company increased its project management headcount to service client expansions and the addition of
new clients. In addition, the Company’s annual incentive bonus expense and transaction-related incentive compensation expense

increased due to the Company’s increased profitability in 2004.
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The 2004 increase in commission expense was directly attributable to the increase in the Company’s corporate advisory services
and brokerage revenue discussed above.

General and administrative expenses increased in 2004 primarily due to increased client-reimbursed out-of-pocket general and
administrative expenses, largely driven by the growth in the Company’s project management service line.

Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased in 2004 from the prior year. The Company has replaced many of its computer
assets at a lower cost than the assets that were retired, which has reduced the Company’s depreciation expense. In addition, several
intangible asset balances related to acquired management contracts became fully amortized during 2004, which created a decrease in
amortization expense as compared to 2003,

The decrease in interest expense is due in part to the expiration of the Company’s interest rate swap agreement at the end of the
first quarter of 2003 for which the Company recorded $0.6 million of interest expense in 2003. The Company also had lower average
outstanding balances on its revolving line of credit and capital leases during 2004 as compared to 2003.

Minority Interest, Net of Income Taxes. Minority interest fluctuated from income in 2003 to expense in 2004. This change is
primarily a result of 2004 gains on dispositions of consolidated real estate projects in which outside parties have an interest. In
addition, the results of operations of certain consolidated real estate entities with outside owners improved due to lower charges for
impairment of real estate held by these entities in 2004, as compared to 2003.

Income from Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries, Net of Income Taxes. In the ordinary course of business, a significant
portion of the Company’s development and investment activities are conducted, and are expected to be conducted in future periods,
through unconsolidated subsidiaries. The Company also has certain investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries which are not related to
its development and investment activities. Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries fluctuates from period to period
based on the volume and profitability of transactions carried out by the underlying unconsolidated subsidiaries. The overall increase in
2004 was primarily the result of significant income from an unconsolidated subsidiary that sold its building portfolio in the first
quarter of 2004 and increased income from the Company’s investment in Savills due to Savills’ improved operating results.

income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes. Income from discontinued operations includes the operations of
real estate properties and gain on disposition of real estate properties held for sale or sold subsequent to the adoption of FAS 144
effective January 1, 2002, that were considered components of an entity under FAS 144 and in which the Company has not retained or
does not expect to retain significant continuing involvement. Dispositions of real estate assets have been and will continue to be a
significant part of the Company’s activities and, as a result of applying the provisions of FAS 144, the Company expects a greater amount
of these activities to be classified as discontinued operations in future periods as fewer asset dispositions will qualify for grandfathered
treatment under FAS 144. During 2004, the Company sold four real estate projects that were considered discontinued operations for
an aggregate net sales price of $78.0 million. The sales resulted in an aggregate gain on disposition of real estate (before income taxes)
of $40.5 million (including interest forgiveness of $0.3 million) and minority interest expense of $10.8 million. In 2003, the Company
sold four real estate projects that were considered discontinued operations for an aggregate sales price of $25.1 million, resulting in an
aggregate gain on disposition of $5.3 million. Income from discontinued operations for 2003 includes a provision for loss of $1.4 million
to reflect a real estate held for sale asset at fair value less cost to sell. Income from discontinued operations for 2003 also includes
$1.4 million of impairment on real estate. Both of these real estate assets were sold in 2004,

Net Income. Net income increased due to the fluctuations in revenues and expenses described above, in addition to a decrease
in the Company’s effective tax rate driven by favorable results from state tax planning as well as the increase in the Company’s income

from its investment in Savills.
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Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
In accordance with FAS 144, certain revenues and expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been reclassified to
conform to the presentation for the year ended December 31, 2004. As a result, certain balances differ from the amounts reported in

previously filed documents. See Income  from Discontinued Operations, Net gf Income Taxes, below, for additional information.

For the Years Ended December 31, (dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ Change % Change
REVENUES:
User Services:
Facilities management $208,936 $233,756 $(24,820) (10.6)%
Corporate advisory services - 123,335 108,414 14,921 13.8%
Project management services 65,500 58,134 7,366 12.7%
397,771 400,304 (2,533) (0.6)%
Investor Services:
Property management 143,727 147,613 (3,886) (2.6)%
Brokerage 95,583 95,657 (64) (0.1)%
Construction management 10,736 10,006 730 7.3%
250,056 253,276 (3,220) (1.3)%
Development and construction 44,299 55,112 (10,813) (19.6)%
692,126 708,692 (16,566) (2.3)%
Gain on disposition of real estate 13,420 24,218 (10,798) (44.6)%
705,546 732,910 (27,364) (3.7)%
COST AND EXPENSES:
Salaries, wages and benefits 452,185 472,810 (20,615) (4.4)%
Commissions 98,957 87,396 11,561 13.2%
General and administrative 117,163 133,741 (16,578) (12.4)%
Depreciation 14,787 15,236 (449) (2.9)%
Amortization 1,991 2,579 (588) (22.8)%
Interest 6,088 10,219 (4,131) (40.4)%
691,181 721,981 (30,800} (4.3)%
Operating income 14,365 10,929 3,436 31.4%
Interest and other income 2,283 1,186 1,097 92.5%
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest and
income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 16,648 12,115 4,533 37.4%
Income tax expense 6,751) (5,400) (1,351) (25.0)%
Minority interest, net of income taxes 1,231 1,619 (388) (24.0)%
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, net of income taxes 9,839 4,961 4,878 98.3%
Income from continuing operations 20,967 13,285 7,672 57.7%
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 73 3,358 (3,285) (97.8)%
Net income $ 21,040 $ 16,653 $ 4,387 26.3%

Revenues. Facilities management revenue decreased primarily due to the Company’s exit from certain unprofitable contracts and
the loss of other clients during 2002 and the first half of 2003, including certain client relationships terminated as part of the
Company’s wind-down of its centralized call center operations. Reimbursement of salaries, wages, benefits, and out-of-pocket general
and administrative costs, a component of facilities management revenue, decreased $10.4 million in 2003, compared to 2002. The
composition of facilities management revenue, including management fees and reimbursements, can vary significantly from period to
period based on the terms of the underlying management agreements in effect each period.

Corporate advisory services revenues began to increase from the prior year in the second quarter 2003 as clients began showing
less reluctance to make new real estate commitments. In addition, during 2003 the Company increased the number of tenant
representation brokers as part of its focus on expanding its brokerage network. The Company was successful in closing several significant
tenant representation transactions and other transactions on behalf of its user clients.

Project management revenue growth was primarily due to the addition of new clients and the expansion of services provided to
existing clients. The growth was partially offset by the sale of a majority of the operations of the Company’s joint venture with Savills

into the Asia-Pacific region and the termination of a contract in the fourth quarter of 2002.
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The decrease in property management revenue was primarily the result of a reduction in square footage under management in
2003, in addition to the Company’s sale of its mall management business to an affiliate of Faison Enterprises, Inc. (the “Faison Sale”) in
the first quarter of 2002.

Brokerage revenue remained relatively flat from 2002 to 2003. However, revenues in the fourth quarter of 2003 were significantly
ahead of the comparable period in the prior year. This is in part the result of an increase in the number of project leasing and
investment sales brokers, as part of the Company’s focus on expanding its brokerage network. In addition, the Company was successful
in closing several significant transactions in the 2003 fourth quarter, driven by stabilization of the economy and decreasing reluctance
on the part of clients to make new real estate commitments.

Construction management revenue is generated from services including space planning and tenant finish coordination for investor
clients in conjunction with property management and leasing assignments, and is directly related to tenants’ real estate demands.
Revenues remained relatively flat from 2002 to 2003.

The decrease in development and construction revenue was primarily due to a $5.8 million decrease in rental revenue from operating
real estate properties, resulting from the sale of various operating properties that generated rental revenue in 2002. In addition,
development and construction fees decreased due to the downturn in the economy, which had resulted in a decrease in the Company’s
development starts and investments in recent years. Typically, the impact of decreases and increases in the Company’s development
starts and investments is not reflected in results immediately and the Company experienced the consequences of reduced previous
periods’ starts and investments in its development and construction revenues for 2003. These decreases in revenue were offset in
2003 by $1.6 million of revenue relating to the Company’s receipt of a distribution from a cost method investment. This distribution
was the result of the disposition of the underlying real estate project.

The Company’s gain on disposition of real estate decreased significantly in 2003 from 2002. In 2003, the Company sold 19 real
estate projects for an aggregate net sales price of $67.1 million, resulting in an aggregate gain on disposition of $13.4 million, including
recognition of deferred gain of $0.3 million relating to a disposition in a previous period. In 2002, the Company sold 36 real estate
projects for an aggregate net sales price of $142.1 million, resulting in an aggregate gain on disposition of $24.2 million, including
recognition of deferred gain of $0.9 million relating to a disposition in a previous period.

Costs and Expenses. The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits expense in 2003 was driven by a $23.9 million decrease in
salaries, wages and benefits for unreimbursed employees offset by a $3.3 million increase in salaries, wages and benefits for
reimbursed employees. The decrease in unreimbursed salaries, wages and benefits is a result of the Company’s continued efforts to
control costs as part of the Company’s cost reduction efforts begun in the second quarter of 2001, in addition to a reduction in
headcount resulting from the Faison Sale and wind-down of the Company’s call center operations. These decreases in unreimbursed
salaries, wages and benefits were partially offset by increases due to new hiring in 2003. The increase in reimbursed salaries, wages
and benefits was driven by an increase in project management services provided to clients, offset by a reduction in headcount due to
the wind-down of call center operations.

The increase in commission expense was primarily driven by the increase in the Company’s corporate advisor}' services revenue,
which was the result of an increase in headcount of tenant representation brokers and the closing of several significant transactions
during 2003 as the economy began to stabilize in the second half of 2003.

The overall decrease in general and administrative expenses was comprised of a $20.4 million decrease in costs that are not
reimbursed by clients, offset by a $3.8 million increase in out-of-pocket general and administrative expenses that are reimbursed by
clients. The decrease in unreimbursed general and administrative expenses for 2003 is the result of a §5.4 million decrease in pursuit
cost expense, mainly due to a writeoft of capitalized pursuit costs in the second quarter of 2002 when negotiations on an international
venture concluded unsuccessfully, as well as continuing efforts by the Company to control costs company-wide. In addition, costs were
incurred in 2002 to restructure or exit outsourcing contracts that were unprofitable or otherwise judged likely to be unsuccessful in
the long run. The overall decrease in general and administrative expenses in 2003 was partially offset by $3.1 million of writedowns
on real estate due to impairment and provisions to reflect real estate held for sale assets at fair value less cost to sell recorded in 2003

as compared to $2.4 million of such writedowns and provisions in 2002.
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Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased because certain non-compete agreements became fully amortized in 2002
and certain assets related to computer hardware became fully depreciated during 2003 and therefore were not depreciated for a full
year in 2003, This was offset by an increase in depreciation expense related to real estate assets classified as held for investment, in
accordance with FAS 144

The decrease in interest expense is primarily the result of the dispositions in late 2002 of several operational real estate projects
that incurred interest expense in 2002. Also, during 2003, the Company had lower average outstanding balances on its revolving
line of credit.

Minority Interest, Net of Income Taxes. The decrease in minority interest income, net of income taxes, is primarily a result of
decreased losses in 2003 in the Company’s consolidated international entities in which outside parties have an interest. This decrease
was partially offser by an increase in minority interest income, net of income taxes, due to larger 2003 losses in certain consolidated
real estate entities driven by 2003 charges for impairment of real estate.

Income from Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries, Net of Income Taxes. Income from investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries fluctuates from period to period based on the volume and profitability of transactions carried out by the underlying
unconsolidated subsidiaries. The Company’s share of income from such transactions is typically driven by its ownership percentage in
the unconsolidated subsidiaries. The 2003 increase in income from unconsolidated subsidiaries was primarily driven by significant
real estate sales by certain unconsolidated subsidiaries and increased income from the 10% investment that the Company owns in
Savills, which it acquired upon initial formation of its strategic alliance with Savills.

Income from Discontinued Cperations, Net of Income Taxes. In 2003, the Company sold four real estate projects that were
considered discontinued operations for an aggregate net sales price of $25.1 million. These sales resulted in an aggregate gain on
disposition of real estate (before income taxes) of $5.3 million. Income from discontinued operations for 2003 includes a provision for
loss of $1.4 million to reflect a real estate held for sale asset at fair value less cost to sell and §1.4 million of impairment on real
estate. In 2002, the Company sold four real estate projects with a gain on disposition of real estate (before income taxes) of $6.6 million
for an aggregate net sales price of $31.2 million. )

Net Income. Net income increased due to the fluctuations in revenues and expenses described above, in addition to a decrease in

the Company’s effective tax rate driven by the increase in the Company’s income from its investment in Savills,

Quarterly Results of Operations and Seasonality

The following table presents unaudited quarterly results of operations data for the Company for each of the eight quarters in 2004 and
2003. This quarterly information is unaudited but, in the opinion of management, reflects all adjustments (consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods presented. The results of operations for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. Revenues and net income during the fourth fiscal quarter
historically have been greater than in each of the first three fiscal quarters, primarily because the Company’s clients have demonstrated a
tendency to close transactions toward the end of the fiscal year. The timing and introduction of new contracts, the disposition of

investments in real estate assets and other factors may also cause quarterly fluctuations in the Company’s results of operations.

Quarter Ended (in thousands) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2004:

Total revenues $158,478 $182,480 $188,966 $248,502
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" 340 (152) (86) 17,169
Net income 2,099 3,214 5,854 27,952
2003:

Total revenues $160,132 $169,146 $167,043 $209,225
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" (149) (175) (385) 782
Net income 1,144 3,072 1,783 15,041

(1) Discontinued operations include the operations of real estate properties and gain on disposition of real estate properties held for sale or sold in which the Company retained or expects to
retain no continuing involvement, in accordance with FAS 144.
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Liguidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s liquidity and capital resources requirements include the funding of working capital needs, primarily costs incurred in
providing services to its clients before collection of related billings; the funding of capital investments, including the acquisition of or
investments in other real estate service companies; the repurchase of its shares if authorized by the Board of Directors; expenditures for
real estate and payments on notes payable associated with its development and investment activities; and expenditures related to
upgrading the Company’s management information systems. The Company finances its operations with internally generated funds and
borrowings under the Credit Facility (described below). The portion of the Company’s development and investment business that
includes the acquisition and development of real estate is financed with loans secured by underlying real estate, external equity, internal
sources of funds, or a combination thereof.

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $91.8 million for 2004, compared to $48.8 million for 2003. Cash provided by
operating activities, excluding the change in real estate, net of related borrowings, increased to $93.1 million in 2004 as compared to
$52.4 million in 2003. This increase is partially due to the collection in 2004 of a large receivable from an affiliate that was outstanding
at year-end 2003. In addition, cash used in real estate activities (exclusive of real estate held for investment), net of related borrowings,
was $1.3 million in 2004, compared to $3.6 million in 2003. This change in cash used in real estate activities is a result of greater real
estate dispositions in 2004, offset by increased borrowings on real estate notes payable in 2004,

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $34.4 million in 2004, compared to $3.9 million of net cash provided by investing
activities in 2003. This change is primarily due to $105.8 million of expenditures made in 2004 related to real estate classified as “held
for investment,” as compared to similar expenditures of $26.3 million in 2003. These 2004 expenditures were offset by $67.3 million
of proceeds from the dispositions of real estate projects classified as “held for investment” at the time of disposition in accordance with
FAS 144, as compared to $16.5 million of such proceeds in 2003. In addition, distributions from investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries, net of contributions, decreased to $9.8 million in 2004, compared to $24.1 million in 2003.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $0.7 million in 2004, compared to $25.1 million of net cash used in financing
activities in 2003. In 2004, the Company received proceeds from borrowings, net of payments, of $47.2 million under notes payable
related to real estate held for investment as compared to net proceeds of $1.9 million in 2003. In addition, the Company received
contributions, net of distributions, from minority interest holders of $0.2 million in 2004, as compared to $8.0 million of distributions,
net of contributions in 2003. The increase in cash provided in 2004 was offset by $37.9 million in cash used to facilitate the
Company’s 2004 Modified Dutch Auction tender offer (including related costs), as compared to $10.4 million in cash used in the
Company’s repurchase program completed in 2003.

In June 2002, the Company obtained a $150.0 million revolving line of credit (the “Credit Facility”) arranged by Bank of America,
N.A., as the administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), which replaced the Company’s previous $150.0 million revolving line of
credit. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, the Company can obtain loans, which are Base Rate Loans or Eurodollar Rate Loans.
Base Rate Loans bear interest at a base rate plus a margin up to 0.75% depending on the Company’s leverage ratio. The base rate is the
higher of the prime lending rate announced from time to time by the Administrative Agent or an average federal funds rate plus 0.5%.
Eurodollar Rate Loans bear interest at the Eurocurrency rate plus a margin, which ranges from 1.75% to 2.5%, depending upon the
Company’s leverage ratio. The Credit Facility contains various covenants such as the maintenance of minimum equity, liquidity,
revenues, interest coverage ratios and fixed charge ratios. The Credit Facility also includes restrictions on recourse indebtedness and
total indebtedness, restrictions on liens and certain restrictions on investments and acquisitions that can be made by the Company.

In addition, the Company may not pay dividends, repurchase common shares, or make other distributions on account of its common
stock exceeding 50% of the previous year’s net income before depreciation and amortization. In September 2004, the Credit Facility

was amended, primarily to permit certain stock transactions including the Company’s Modified Dutch Auction tender offer. The Credit
Facility is guaranteed by certain significant subsidiaries of the Company and is secured by a pledge of stock of such significant
subsidiaries and a pledge of certain intercompany indebtedness.

The Company’s participation in derivative transactions has been limited to hedging purposes, and derivative instruments are not
held for trading purposes. The Credit Facility requires the Company to enter into one or more interest rate agreements for the

Company’s floating rate indebtedness in excess of $30.0 million (other than construction loans under which interest is capitalized in
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accordance with GAAP) ensuring the net interest on such excess is fixed, capped or hedged. In March 2001, the Company renewed

an existing interest rate swap agreement for a two-year period ending March 24, 2003, with a fixed interest pay rate of 4.68% and a
notional amount of §150.0 million. The interest rate swap agreement expired on March 24, 2003, and the related weighted average
receive rate was 1.37% for the three months ended March 31, 2003. Subsequent to the expiration of the interest rate swap agreement,
the Company has entered into various short-term interest rate agreements to comply with the requirements of the Credit Facility.

In December 2004, the Company entered into an interest rate cap agreement with a notional amount of $10.0 million expiring March 24,
2005, under which the Company will receive payments if the 30-day LIBOR based interest rate exceeds 3.0%. The interest rate cap
agreement has not been designated as an effective hedge (although it was entered into for hedging purposes), and the Company will
recognize changes in fair value of the interest rate cap agreement in current period earnings. Through December 31, 2004,
amounts recorded by the Company related to this interest rate cap agreement were not material. The Company was not in compliance
with the Credit Facility’s interest rate agreement requirement at December 31, 2004. The Company held $1.5 million of floating

rate indebtedness (in excess of the $30.0 million allowed under the Credit Facility), which was not subject to the interest rate cap
agreement. The Company obtained a waiver effective February 28, 2005, from the lenders under the Credit Facility waiving
compliance with this covenant for the period commencing on December 31, 2004, until, but not including, June 30, 2005.

The Company also has a $25.0 million discretionary line of credit (the “Discretionary Line”) with Bank of America, N.A. Each loan
obtained by the Company under the Discretionary Line matures in five business days, but no later than June 28, 2005, and bears
interest at a rate agreed upon between the Company and the bank. Borrowings under the Discretionary Line are unsecured and reduce
borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility. »

At December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility or the Discretionary Line. The
covenants contained in the Credit Facility and the amount of the Company’s other borrowings and contingent liabilities may have the
effect of limiting the credit available to the Company under the Credit Facility to an amount less than the $150.0 million commitment.

As it takes longer for the Company to dispose of real estate investments in a weaker economy, an economic slowdown could adversely
impact the Company’s ability to comply with certain of the real estate-related financial covenants in the Company’s Credit Facility,
which could negatively impact the Company’s borrowing capacity. Since many of the financial covenants in the Credit Facility are
dependent on the Company’s “EBITDA,” as defined in the Credit Agreement and calculated on a trailing four quarter basis, a decline

in the Company’s overall operations could adversely impact the Company’s ability to comply with these financial covenants and, in
turn, the Company’s borrowing capacity or the amount of its investments in real estate. The Company’s unused borrowing capacity
(taking into account letters of credit outstanding) under the Credit Facility was $126.5 million at December 31, 2004. The Company
expects to continue to borrow under the Credit Facility to finance future strategic acquisitions, fund its co-investment activities and
provide the Company with an additional source of working capital.

In December 2004, the Company entered into an interest rate cap agreement in order to limit its interest expense on a
construction loan with a 30-day LIBOR-based floating interest rate related to a consolidated real estate project. The interest rate cap
agreement has an initial notional amount of $1.1 million and the Company will receive payments if the LIBOR-based interest rate
exceeds 3.5%. The interest rate cap agreement has not been designated as an effective hedge, and therefore the interest rate cap agreement
will be marked to market each period with the change in fair market value recognized in current period earnings, The interest rate cap
agreement expires on January 1, 2006. Through December 31, 2004, amounts recorded by the Company related to this interest rate
cap agreement were not material.

In March 2003, the Company entered into an interest rate cap agreement in order to limit its interest expense on a construction
loan with a 30-day LIBOR-based floating interest rate related to a consolidated real estate project. The interest rate cap agreement has a
notional amount of $11.4 million and the Company will receive payments if the LIBOR-based interest rate exceeds 3.5%. The
interest rate cap agreement has not been designated as an effective hedge, and therefore the interest rate cap agreement will be
marked to market each period with the change in fair market value recognized in current period earnings. The interest rate cap
agreement expires on March 1, 2005. Through December 31, 2004, amounts recorded by the Company related to this interest rate
cap agreement were not material.

The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company believes that funds generated from

operations, together with existing cash and available credit under the Credit Facility and loans secured by underlying real estate,
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will be sufficient to finance its current operations, planned capital expenditure requirements, payment obligations for development
purchases, share repurchases, acquisitions of service companies and internal growth for the foreseeable future. The Company’s need, if
any, to raise additional funds to meet its working capital and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including the
success and pace of its implementation of its growth strategy. The Company regularly considers capital raising alternatives to be able to
take advantage of available avenues to supplement its working capital, including strategic corporate partnerships or other alliances,
bank borrowings and the sale of equity and/or debt securities.

In March 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors has authorized the purchase of up to $20.0 million of its
common stock from time to time in open market purchases or in privately negotiated transactions. The repurchase of shares is intended
to offset dilution resulting from equity incentive awards made under the Company’s stock plans. The Company’s intent with respect
to stock repurchase programs is to reserve the repurchased shares for issuance in connection with the Company’s employee stock
purchase plan and option exercises or restricted stock grants under the Company’s long-term incentive plan and other equity-based
incentive plans, as well as for other corporate purposes.

In September 2004, the Company commenced a Modified Dutch Auction tender offer whereby it offered to purchase up to
4,444,444 shares of its common stock. Under the terms of the tender offer, the Company invited shareholders to tender their shares at
a purchase price not in excess of $15.75 nor less than $13.50 per share. The tender offer was completed in October 2004, and as a
result, the Company purchased 2,354,437 shares of common stock priced at $15.75 per share for a total of $37.9 million, including
the costs of the tender offer. The transaction was financed from the Company’s available cash, and the Company placed the
repurchased shares in treasury.

In May 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $15.0 million of the Company’s common
stock from time to time in open market purchases or through privately negotiated transactions. The repurchase program was
completed during the second quarter of 2003 and resulted in the repurchase of 1,593,900 shares at an average cost of $9.41 per
share. The purchases were made with funds generated from operations and existing cash, and the Company placed the

repurchased shares in treasury.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The Company has off-balance sheet arrangements consisting of certain debt repayment guarantees that have been provided by the
Company as security for the obligations of others (primarily unconsolidated subsidiaries of the Company) in the normal course of the
Company’s real estate development business. The Company has not made any material payments under such arrangements in the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 or 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has guaranteed a maximum of $16.2 million of
such notes payable, of which $15.4 million is outstanding as of December 31, 2004. Payments required under these arrangements,

if any, would generally result in an increase in the Company’s investment in the underlying unconsolidated subsidiaries.

The Company has various contractual obligations at December 31, 2004, as summarized below (in millions), that could impact its liquidity:

Payments due by Period

Less than After
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long-term debt $ — $ - $ — $ — $ —
Capital lease obligations c.4 0.4 — — —
Operating leases 65.9 18.7 28.6 13.7 3.9
Notes payable on real estate (recourse)’ @ 27.5 4.4 23.1 — —
Notes payable on real estate {nonrecourse)”! 122.2 9.0 107.8 5.4 —
Purchase obligations 120.5 119.2 1.3 — —
QOther obligations® 10.0 — 10.0 — —
Total Contractual Obligations $346.5 $152.7 $170.8 $19.1 $3.9

(1) Includes notes related to the Company's various real estate projects and excludes future interest. The notes have either fixed or variable interest raies, ranging from 4.06% to 12% at
December 31, 2004. In general, interest is drawn on the underlying construction loan and subsequently paid with principal with proceeds upon sale of the veal estate project.

(2) With respect to a project to which $3.3 million of these obligations relate, the Company has an agreement with an investor client to purchase the project upen completion, the proceeds of
which will be used to repay the related note payable.

(3) These obligations, as well as §3.6 million vecorded in other current labilities, are collateralized by outstanding letters of credit totaling $10.1 million.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates. The Company is exposed to market risk related to its Credit
Facility and loans secured by real estate properties as discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” The Credit Facility and the majority of the loans secured by real estate bear interest at variable
rates and are subject to fluctuations in the market. From time to time, the Company purchases interest rate agreements to hedge a
portion, but not all, of its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates.

If an increase or decrease in market interest rates of 100 basis points were to have occurred at December 31, 2004, the Company’s
total estimated interest costs for 2005 would increase or decrease by approximately $1.5 million. The Company’s sensitivity analysis
is based on borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and includes the effects of the Company’s various interest rate cap
agreements, as applicable. If the market interest rates for variable rate debt had been 100 basis points higher or lower in 2004, the
Company’s total interest costs would have increased or decreased accordingly by approximately $1.3 million, after considering the
effect of the interest rate agreements in effect during 2004. Interest costs include both interest that is expensed and interest that is
capitalized as part of the cost of real estate. A portion of the interest relating to the Company’s real estate debt ($149.7 million at
December 31, 2004) is capitalized. This analysis does not consider the effects of the reduced level of overall economic activity that
could exist in a higher interest rate environment.

The Company’s carnings are somewhat affected by fluctuations in the value of the ULS. dollar as compared to foreign currencies as a
result of its operations in Canada, Europe, Asia and Australia. At December 31, 2004, a uniform 10% strengthening or weakening in the
value of the dollar relative to the currencies in which the Company’s foreign operations are denominated would result in an estimated
decrease or increase accordingly in income before income taxes of approximately $0.5 million for the year ending December 31, 2005. If,
during the year ended December 31, 2004, a uniform 10% strengthening or weakening in the value of the dollar relative to the currencies
in which the Company’s foreign operations are denominated had occurred, it would have resulted in a decrease or increase accordingly in
income before income taxes of approximately $0.5 million (primarily in income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries).
These calculations assume that each exchange rate would change in the same direction relative to the U.S. dollar and are based on either
the Company’s actual 2004 or an estimate of 2005 income before income taxes from foreign operations. The Company’s sensitivity
analysis of the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates does not factor in potential changes to its 2005 anticipated level of

foreign operations or local currency prices.
YP

Effects of Inflation
The Company does not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on its results of operations in recent years. However, therée can

be no assurance that the Company’s business will not be affected by inflation in the future.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, including without limitation statements containing the

” K, ”«

target,

» i ” i 3«

words “believe,

K,

anticipate,” “forecast,” “will,” “may,” “expect,” “envision,” “project,” “budget, estimate,” “could,” “should,”

“conceivable,” “intend,” “possible,” “foresee,” “look for,” “look to” and words of similar import, are forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securities laws. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
matters which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company or industry results to be materially different from
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-locking statements, Such risks, uncertainties and

other matters include, but are not limited to:

¢ the timing of individual transactions,

*  the ability of the Company to identify, implement and maintain the benefit of cost reduction measures and achieve
economies of scale,

¢ the ability of the Company to compete effectively in the international arena,

¢ the ability of the Company to retain its major clients and renew its contracts,

¢ the ability of the Company to attract new user and investor clients,
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* the ability of the Company to manage fluctuations in net earnings and cash flow which could result from the Company’s participation
asa principal in real estate investments,

¢ the ability of the Company to continue to pursue its growth strategy,

* the ability of the Company to pursue strategic acquisitions on favorable terms and manage challenges and issues commonly
encountered as a result of those acquisitions,

*  the ability of the Company to compete in highly competitive national and local business lines, and

¢ the ability of the Company to attract and retain qualified personnel in all areas of its business (particularly senior management).

In addition, the Company’s ability to achieve certain anticipated results will be subject to other factors affecting the Company’s
business that are beyond the Company’s control, including but not limited to general economic conditions (including the cost and
availability of capital for investment in real estate and clients’ willingness to make real estate commitments) and the effect of
government regulation on the conduct of the Company’s business and the threat of terrorism and acts of war. Given these uncertainties,
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims any obligation to
update any such statements or publicly announce any updates or revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein
to reflect any change in the Company’s expectation with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, circumstances or

assumptions underlying such statements.




Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting

them to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in this report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting

is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation
and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment and those criteria, management believes that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,

The Company’s independent auditors have issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the company’s internal

control over financial reporting, That report appears elsewhere herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
that occurred during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting,

New York Stock Exchange and Section 302 Certifications
In 2004, Mr. Sulentic, as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, provided to the New York Stock Exchange the annual CEO certification
regarding the Company’s compliance with the New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance listing standards.
Mr. Sulentic, as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. McClain, as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, filed
with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2004, the CEO and CFO certifications required under Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act.




Report of Independent Reqistered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Trammell Crow Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trammell Crow Company as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, cash flows and comprehensive income for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a). These
financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Trammell Crow Company at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the
effectiveness of Trammell Crow Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

and our report dated March 14, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Sarnct ¥ MLLP

Dallas, Texas
March 14, 2005



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Trammell Crow Cempany

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting, that Trammell Crow Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Trammell Crow Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Trammell Crow Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion,
Trammell Crow Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the 2004 consolidated financial statements of Trammell Crow Company and our report dated March 14, 2005 expressed

St ¥ MLLP

an unqualified opinion thereon.

Dallas, Texas
March 14, 2005



Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, (in thousands, except share and_per share data) 2004 2003
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $163,637 $105,616
Restricted cash 9,950 7,647
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $3,144 in 2004 and $3,886 in 2003 103,551 97,475
Receivables from affiliates 1,626 1,593
Notes and other receivables 19,726 9,784
Deferred income taxes 4,021 3,754
Real estate under development 20,756 39,341
Real estate and other assets held for sale 5,045 74,050
QOther current assets 18,089 20,650
Total current assets 346,401 359,914
Furniture and equipment, net 18,649 21,290
Deferred income taxes 22,935 19,898
Real estate under development 60,530 6,345
Real estate held for investment 135,754 50,066
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 74,090 65,025
Goodwill, net 74,357 74,346
Receivables from affiliates — 14,485
Other assets 16,234 18,757
$748,950 $630,126
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 23,731 $ 16,183
Accrued expenses 148,758 114,322
Payables to affiliates 40 104
Income taxes payable 18,121 7,468
Current portion of long-term debt [ 1,081
Current portion of capital lease obligations 363 1,297
Current portion of notes payable on real estate 21,937 47,235
Liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale 5,336 51,777
Other current liabilities 12,260 9,829
Total current liabilities 230,552 249,296
Long-term debt, less current portion 8 10,014
Capital lease obligations, less current portion — 714
Notes payable on real estate, less current portion 122,656 7,118
Other liabilities 10,028 6,459
Total liabilities 363,244 273,601
Minority interest 44,756 28,896
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock; $0.01 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — —
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized 37,902,998 shares issued and
35,605,007 shares outstanding in 2004, and 37,783,595 shares issued and 36,862,242 shares
outstanding in 2003 379 377
Paid-in capital 196,314 192,336
Retained earnings 190,252 151,560
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,043 1,106
Less: Treasury stock {36,921) {8,363)
Unearned stock compensation, net (11,117) (9,387)
Total stockholders’ equity 340,950 327,629
$748,950 $630,126

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands, except share and per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Revenues
User Services:
Facilities management $ 211,062 $ 208,936 $ 233,756
Corporate advisory services 143,266 123,335 108,414
Project management services 91,599 65,500 58,134
445,927 397,771 400,304
Investor Services:
Property management 137,193 143,727 147,613
Brokerage 114,478 95,593 95,657
Construction management 11,187 10,736 10,006
262,858 250,056 253,276
Development and construction 40,846 44 299 55,112
749,631 692,126 708,692
Gain on disposition of real estate 28,795 13,420 24,218
778,426 705,546 732,210
Costs and Expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits 493,438 452,195 472,810
Commissions 120,357 98,957 87,396
General and administrative 128,968 117,163 133,741
Depreciation 10,119 14,787 15,236
Amortization 1,395 1,991 2,579
Interest 4,573 6,088 10,219
758,850 691,181 721,981
Operating income 19,576 14,365 10,929
Interest and other income 2,808 2,283 1,186
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, mincrity interest and income
from investments in unconsclidated subsidiaries 22,384 16,648 12,115
Income tax expense (8,501) 6,751) (5,400)
Minority inferest, net of income tax (expense) benefit of $1,840, $(839) and $(1,302)
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively (3,006) 1,231 1,619
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, net of income tax expense
of $6,718, $6,711 and $3,988 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively 10,971 9,839 4,961
Income from continuing operations 21,848 20,967 13,295
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense of $10,575, $49 and
$2,701 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively 17,271 73 3,358
Net income $ 39,119 $ 21,040 $ 16,653
Income per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ 0.62 $ 0.59 3 0.38
Diluted $ 0.59 $ 0.57 $ 0.36
Income per share fror discontinued operations, net of income taxes:
Basic $ 0.50 $ — $ 0.09
Diluted . $ 0.46 $ — $ 0.08
Net income per share:
Basic $ 1.12 $ 0.59 $ 0.47
Diluted $ 1.05 $ 0.57 $ 0.45
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 35,064,453 35,572,493 35,741,754
Diluted 37,239,801 36,780,515 36,797,012

See accompanying notes.




(onsolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Accumulated

Other
Common Comprehensive Unearned
Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 Common Shares Stock Par Paid-In Retained Income Treasury Stock
(in thousands, except share data) Issued Treasury Value Capital Earnings {Loss) Stock Compensation Total
Balance at January 1, 2002 35,879,515 295,092 $359 $176,354 $115,084 $(1,331) $ (2,951) % (1,392) $285,123
Net income — — - — 16,653 — — — 16,653
Issuance of restricted stock 30,000 — — 417 — — — (417) -
Forfeiture of restricted stock — 41,614 —_ (96) — — (398) 163 (331)
Amortization of unearned stock
compensation — - — - — — — 840 840
Issuance of common stock 318,305 (288,059) 3 2,302 (863) —_ 2,885 —_— 4,327
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax —_ — —_ — — 1,208 — — 1,208
Change in fair value of interest rate
swap agreement, net of tax — — — — o (466) — — (466)
Balance at December 31, 2002 36,227,820 48,647 362 178,977 130,874 (589) (464) (806) 308,354
Net income — — — — 21,040 — — — 21,040
Issuance of restricted stock 1,413,000 (223,500) 14 12,269 — — 2,028 (14,311) —
Forfeiture of restricted stock — 237,570 — (26) — — (1,996) 1,807 (215)
Amortization of unearned stock
compensation — — — — — — — 3,923 3,923
Issuance of common stock 142,775 (275,764) 1 1,116 (354) — 2,504 — 3,267
Stock repurchase - 1,134,400 — — — — (10,435) — (10,435)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax — — — —_ — 1,358 — — 1,358
Change in fair value of interest rate
swap agreement, net of tax — — — — — 337 — — 337
Balance at December 31, 2003 37,783,595 921,353 377 192,336 151,560 1,106 (8,363) (9,387) 327,629
Net income — — — — 39,119 —_ — —_ 39,119
Issuance of restricted stock 28,000 (644,313) 1 2,846 — — 5,870 (8,717) —
Forfeiture of restricted stock — 32,632 _— — —_— — (394) 304 (90)
Amortization of unearned stock
compensation —_— — — — — — — 6,683 6,683
Issuance of common stock 91,403 (366,118) 1 1,132 427) — 3,900 — 4,606
Stock repurchase — 2,354,437 — — - — (37,934) — (37,934)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax — e — e — 937 — — 937
Balance at December 31, 2004 37,902,998 2,297,991 $379 $196,314 $190,252 $ 2,043 $(36,921) $(11,117)  $340,950

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Operating activities
Cash flows from earnings:
Net income $ 39,119 $ 21,040 $ 16,653
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by earnings:
Depreciation 10,208 15,001 15,236
Amortization 1,396 1,995 2,593
Amortization of amployment contracts and unearned stock compensation 9,213 5,103 2,467
Amortization of contract intangibles 2,205 2,079 2,718
Bad debt expense 1,116 2,764 4,762
Provision for losses and writedowns for impairment on real estate 672 5,908 2,422
Loss (gain) on sale of real estate held for investments (17,084) 41 —
Writedowns due to impairment of goodwill, intangibles and investments — — 1,149
Minority interest 15,687 (2,070) (2,921)
Deferred income tax provision (3,978) (356) 4,087
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreement — — 72
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (17,689) (16,550) (8,949)
Net cash provided by earnings 40,865 34,955 40,289
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash (2,303) 1,274 (8,921)
Accounts receivable (7,182) 16,834 39,267
Receivables from affiliates 16,365 (12,240) 1,162
Notes receivable and other assets (8,776) (7,715} 11,839
Real estate held for sale and under development (9,287) (7,271) 35,617
Notes payable on real estate held for sale and under development 7,953 3,651 (26,438)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 39,550 6,167 (15,099}
Payables to affiliates (64) 104 (1,609)
Income taxes payable/recoverable 10,653 4,347 148
Other liabilities 3,972 8,704 (4,392)
Net cash flows from changes in working capital 50,881 13,855 31,574
Net cash provided by operating activities 91,746 48,810 71,863
Investing activities
Expenditures for furnifure and equipment (5,735) (10,458) (4,314)
Additions to real estate held for investment (105,809) (26,303) —_
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate held for investment 67,298 16,479 —_
Cash related to consolidation of entities (See Note 5) — — 1,873
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (6,715) (6,594} (6,975)
Distributions from unconsolidated subsidiaries 16,551 30,737 14,113
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (34,410) 3,861 4,697
Financing activities
Principal payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations (121,934) (98,695) (228,125)
Proceeds from long-term debt 108,538 86,923 190,214
Contributions from minority interest 19,742 3,488 4,778
Distributions to minority interest (19,569) (11,497) (7,808}
Proceeds from notes payable on real estate held for investment 77,832 5,148 —
Payments on notes payable on real estate held for investment (30,596) (3,259) —
Purchase of common stock (37,934) (10,435) —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,691 904 1,763
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 2,915 2,363 2,564
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 685 (25,060) (36,614)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 58,021 27,611 39,946
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 105,616 78,005 38,059
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 163,637 $105,616 $ 78,005

See accompanying notes.




(onsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Net income $39,119 $21,040 $16,653
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense of $674 in 2004, $1,033
in 2003 and $1,093 in 2002 937 1,358 1,208
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreement, net of tax expense (benefit) of $229
in 2003 and $(317) in 2002 — 337 (466)
Comprehensive income $40,056 $22,735 $17,395

See accompanying notes.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2004 (dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Trammell Crow Company (the “Company”) is one of the largest diversified commercial real estate service companies in the world.
The Company delivers a comprehensive range of services to leading multinational corporations, institutional investors and other users
of real estate services. In the United States, the Company is a leading provider of commercial property and facilities management
services, commercial property brokerage and transaction management services, commercial property development and construction
services and project management services. In addition to its full service offices located throughout the United States, the Company
has offices in Canada, Europe, Asia and Latin/South America focused on the delivery of real estate services to users of commercial real
estate. The Company delivers brokerage services outside the United States through strategic alliances with leading providers — in
Europe and Asia, through Savills plc (“Savills”), a leading property services company based in the United Kingdom; and in Canada,
through J] Barnicke, a leading Canadian real estate services provider. The Company delivers four core services — building management
services, brokerage services, project management services and development services — to both user and investor clients. The
Company’s business is organized under two separate national leadership structures. The Global Services Group includes substantially
all of the building management services, brokerage services, and project management services delivered to both user and investor
clients. Substantially all of the Company’s real estate development and investment activities are conducted through the Company’s
Development and Investment Group.

Within the Global Services segment, with approximately 6,000 full-time equivalent (*FTE”) employees, the Company provides
services to user clients, including corporations, hospitals, universities and government agencies, that are typically the primary
occupants of the commercial properties with respect to which services are performed, and investor clients that are not typically the
primary occupants of the commercial properties with respect to which services are performed. The building management services
provided to user clients consist primarily of facilities management, which entails providing comprehensive day-to-day occupancy
related services, principally to large corporations, healthcare systems and other users that occupy commercial facilities in multiple
locations. These services include administration and day-to-day maintenance and repair of client-occupied facilities. Brokerage services
provided to user clients include corporate advisory services such as portfolio management and tenant representation. Project
management services provided to user clients include facility planning and project management, such as construction oversight,
space planning, site consolidations, facilities design and workspace moves, adds and changes. The building management services
provided to investor clients include property management services relating to all aspects of building operations, tenant relations and
oversight of building improvement processes. Brokerage services provided to investor clients include project leasing and investment
sales services whereby the Company advises buyers, sellers and landlords in connection with the leasing and sale of office, industrial
and retail space and land. Project management services provided to investor clients include construction management services
such as space planning and tenant finish coordination.

Within the Development and Investment segment, encompassing approximately 200 FTE employees, the Company provides
development services to investor and user clients — both those pursuant to which the Company takes an ownership or co-investment
position in a project and those pursuant to which the Company provides development services to others in exchange for fees. The
Company provides comprehensive project development services and acquires and disposes of commercial real estate projects. The
development services provided include financial planning, site acquisition, procurement of approvals and permits, design and
engineering coordination, construction bidding and management, tenant finish coordination, project closeout and project financing
services. The Company will continue to focus its efforts in this area on risk-mitigated opportunities for investor clients and fee
development and build-to-suit projects for user clients, including those in healthcare. From time to time, the Company pursues
development and investment activities, including opportunistic property acquisitions and new development, for its own account
or on a co-investment basis. With an organization comprised of professionals dedicated fully to development and investment activities,
the Company is positioned to pursue and execute new development business, particularly programmatic business with the Company’s

large investor clients, and exploit niche market opportunities.




Trammell Crow Company

Reclassifications

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
(“FAS 1447), certain assets and liabilities at December 31, 2003, and certain revenues and expenses for the first three quarters of 2004,
and the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, have been reclassified to conform to the presentation at and for the year ended

December 31, 2004 (see Notes 9 and 14). As a result, certain balances differ from the amounts reported in previously filed documents.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying

notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the
Company is the primary beneficiary and other subsidiaries over which the Company has control. Intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated.

The Company’s determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to its variable interests in VIEs is based on
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
{(“FIN 46R”). The Company consolidates any VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary and discloses significant variable
interests in VIEs of which the Company is not the primary beneficiary. The Company determines whether an entity is a VIE, and if so,
whether it should be consolidated, by utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently subjective. If the Company made different
judgments or utilized different estimates in these evaluations, it could result in differing conclusions as to whether or not an entity is a
VIE and whether or not to consolidate such entity.

The Company’s determination of the appropriate accounting method for all other investments in subsidiaries, including those that
are not primary beneficiary interests in VIEs, is based on the amount of control or influence the Company has (considering its
ownership interest) in the underlying entity. The Company consolidates those other subsidiaries over which it exercises control. Those
other investments in subsidiaries where the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence (but not control) over
operating and financial policies of such subsidiaries (including certain subsidiaries where the Company has less than 20% ownership)
are accounted for on the equity method. The Company eliminates transactions with such equity method subsidiaries to the extent
of its ownership in such subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of these equity method subsidiaries is
included in consolidated net income. All remaining investments of the Company are carried at cost. Under either the equity or cost

method, impairment losses are recognized upon evidence of other-than-temporary losses of value.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes fees from property management and facilities management services over the terms of the respective managemnent
contracts. Most of the property management contracts are cancelable at will or with 30 days’ notice. The terms of the facilities
management contracts generally range from three to five years, although many provide for shorter terms or earlier termination rights
under certain circumstances. Also, the Company earns incentive fees for property management and facilities management services
based on various quantitative and/or qualitative criteria specified in the management agreement. These fees are recognized when quantitative
criteria have been met or, for those incentive fees based on qualitative criteria, upon approval of the fee by the client. The Company’s
management and incentive fee revenues are not recognized to the extent that such revenues are subject to future performance contingencies,
but are recognized once the contingency has been resolved.

The Company s project leasing and tenant representation transactions are subject to commission agreements between the
Company and the client which typically describe the calculation of the fee and when the Company earns such fee. The recognition of
revenue for each transaction is dictated by the terms of the relevant commission agreement, each of which may be unique. The
commission agreements generally provide that 50% of the commission is earned and payable upon execution of the lease and 50% is
earned and payable upon the tenant’s occupancy of the space. Generally the first 50% of the commission is not contingent on the

subsequent occupancy of the space. However, sometimes these agreements contain refund provisions whereby the first 50% of the
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commission may be refundable should the tenant not occupy the subject space. In cases where refund provisions or other
contingencies exist, the Company does not recognize the revenue until the contingency is eliminated. Investment sales brokerage
revenue is recognized upon closing of the underlying real estate transaction. The Company does not recognize these revenues until
there is evidence of an arrangement, services have been rendered, the price is determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
These policies have been in place since the Company’s initial public offering in 1997.

Development services and project management services generate fees from development and construction management projects
and net construction revenues, which are gross construction revenues net of subcontract costs. For projects where the Company
operates as a general contractor, fees are generally recognized using the percentage-of-completion method based on costs incurred as a
percentage of total expected costs. Gross construction services revenues totaled $35,438, 33,526, and $45,065 and subcontract
costs totaled §30,986, $26,215 and $33,332 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Some development and construction management
and project management assignments are subject to agreements between the Company and the client that describe the calculation of
fees and when the Company earns such fees. The earnings terms of these agreements dictate when the Company recognizes the related
revenues. The Company may also earn incentive development fees by reaching specified time table, leasing or budget targets, as
defined in the relevant development services agreement. Certain incentive development fees allow the Company to share in any increase
in the fair value of the developed real estate asset. This sharing creates additional revenue potential to the Company with no exposure
to loss other than opportunity cost. The Company recognizes such fees when the specified target is attained.

Gains on disposition of real estate are recognized upon sale of the underlying project in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.

The Company records deferred income to the extent that cash payments have been received, or amounts have been billed,
in accordance with the terms of underlying agreements, but such amounts have not yet met the criteria for revenue recognition in
accordance with GAAP. When such revenues meet the appropriate criteria, the Company recognizes revenue as permitted.

Certain of the Company’s contracts provide for reimbursement for employee related costs which the Company recognizes as
revenue. Also, in accordance with EITF 01-14, Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses
Incurred, certain reimbursements received from clients for out-of-pocket expenses are characterized as revenue in the statement of
income rather than as a reduction of the expenses incurred. Since the Company is the primary obligor, has supplier discretion and
bears credit risk for such expenses, the Company records reimbursement revenue for such out-of-pocket expenses. Reimbursement

revenue is recognized when the underlying reimbursable costs are incurred.

Long-Lived Assets
Real Estate

The Company classifies real estate in accordance with the criteria of FAS 144 as follows: (i) Real estate held for sale, which includes
completed assets or land for sale in its present condition that meets all of the FAS 144 “held for sale” criteria, (ii) Real estate under
development (current), which includes real estate that the Company is in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and
disposed of within one year of the balance sheet date; (iii) Real estate under development (non-current), which includes real estate that
the Company is in the process of developing that is expected to be completed and disposed of more than one year from the balance sheet
date; or (iv) Real estate held for investment, which consists of completed assets not expected to be disposed of within one year of the
balance sheet date and land on which development activities have not yet commenced. Any asset reclassified from real estate held for sale
to real estate under development (current or non-current) or real estate held for investment is measured individually at the lower of
its fair value at the date of the reclassification or its carrying amount before it was classified as “held for sale,” adjusted (in the case of
real estate held for investment) for any depreciation that would have been recognized had the asset been continuously classified as real
estate held for investment.
Real estate held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. If an asset’s fair value less cost to sell,
based on discounted future cash flows or market comparisons, is less than its carrying amount, an allowance is recorded against the asset,
Real estate under development and real estate held for investment are carried at cost less depreciation, as applicable. When

indicators of impairment are present, real estate under development and real estate held for investment are evaluated for impairment
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and Josses are recorded when undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by an asset are less than the asset’s carrying amount.
The amount of the impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is determined using
a discounted cash flow analysis or market comparisons. Buildings and improvements included in real estate held for investment

are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, generally 39 years. Tenant improvements included in real
estate held for investment are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or terms

of the respective leases.

When acquiring real estate with existing buildings, the Company allocates the purchase price between land, building and intangibles
related to in-place leases, if any, based on their relative fair values. The fair values of acquired land and buildings are determined
based on an estimated discounted future cash flow model with lease-up assumptions as if the building was vacant upon acquisition. The
fair value of in-place leases includes the value of net lease intangibles for above or below-market rents and tenant origination costs,
determined on a lease by lease basis. The capitalized values for both net lease intangibles and tenant origination costs are amortized
over the term of the underlying leases. Amortization related to net lease intangibles is recorded as either an increase to or a reduction
of rental income and amortization for tenant origination costs is recorded to amortization expense.

FAS 144 extends the reporting of a discontinued operation to a “component of an entity,” but further requires that a component be
classified as a discontinued operation if the operations and cash flows of the component have been or will be eliminated from the
ongoing operations of the entity in the disposal transaction and the entity will not have any significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the component after the disposal transaction. As defined in FAS 144, a “component of an entity” comprises operations
and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Because
cach of the Company’s real estate assets is generally accounted for in a discrete subsidiary, almost every real estate asset constitutes a
component of an entity under FAS 144 increasing the likelihood that the disposition of assets the Company holds for sale in the
ordinary course of business must be reported as a discontinued operation unless the Company has significant continuing involvement in
the operations of the asset after its disposition. Furthermore, operating profits and losses on such assets are required to be recognized
and reported as operating profits and losses on discontinued operations in the periods in which they occur. The Company has certain
real estate assets that are land parcels and constitute a component of an entity. From time to time, the Company disposes of these
land parcels in smaller lots. An individual lot that is part of a larger land parcel does not constitute a component of an entity within the

meaning of paragraph 41 of FAS 144 until it is either classified as held for sale in accordance with FAS 144 or sold.

Gooawill and Indefinite Lived Intangibles

Goodwill reflects the excess of purchase price over the fair value of specifically identified net assets purchased. Accumulated amortization
of goodwill was $9,837 and $9,957 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangibles (“FAS 142”), goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not
amortized but are subject to annual impairment tests. These impairment tests are based on the comparison of the fair value of each of the
Company’s reporting units to the carrying value of such unit. If the fair value of the reporting unit falls below its carrying value, goodwill

is deemed to be impaired and a writedown of goodwill is recognized. The Company’s reporting units mirror its two segments, Global
Services and Development and Investment, as each segment’s underlying business units have similar long-term economic characteristics
and service delivery capabilities. All of the Company’s goodwill relates to its Global Services segment. The Company has performed the

required impairment tests under FAS 142 and has determined that no impairment of its goodwill exists at December 31, 2004.

Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets primarily include contract intangibles, employment related contracts and the value of management
contracts acquired by the Company through business acquisitions. Intangible assets are evaluated when indicators of impairment are
present and losses arc recorded when undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by an asset are less than an asset’s carrying
amount. The amount of the impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is

determined using a discounted cash flow analysis.
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The Company’s contract intangibles consist of upfront cash payments to clients and direct third party costs incurred in order to
enter into new long-term outsourcing contracts. These costs are considered part of the total contract cost when negotiating the future
revenue to be received under a new contract. These payments and costs are capitalized and amortized as a reduction of the related
revenue over the life of the underlying contract. The Company also classifies any writedowns of such capitalized upfront payments or
costs due to impairment in value, such as might occur upon the early termination of a contract, as a reduction of revenue. See Note 15
for discussion of impairment losses recognized on contract intangibles in 2002.

From time to time, the Company enters into contracts with certain management level employees and brokers, as well as
employees hired in connection with acquisitions of real estate services companies. To the extent that any amount paid or loaned to an
employee (generally at the inception of the employment relationship or in connection with employee relocations) in accordance
with these agreements is contractually tied to an employee’s future service with the Company, the amount is expensed as compensation
over the period of time that such future services to the Company are required, as stipulated in the applicable agreement. Amounts
loaned to employees under these arrangements are included in notes and other receivables and other assets in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company has recorded intangible assets related to the value of certain management

contracts acquired. These intangible assets are amortized over periods from five to six years.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the lability method. Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for federal income tax purposes, and

are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less when purchased.

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, restricted cash primarily consists of $8,254 and $7,647, respectively, received by the Company
from clients for future development costs on buildings being renovated or constructed by the Company on behalf of such clients.
Contractual restrictions provide that these funds can only be used to pay for construction costs related to the underlying renovation

or construction projects.

Furniture and Equipment
Furniture and equipment are stated at cost and include assets under capital leases. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over estimated useful lives, which generally range from three to five years, and includes amortization of assets recorded under

capital leases, Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the remaining useful life.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company provides services to owners and users of real estate assets primarily in the United States. The Company generally does not
require collateral from its clients. The risk associated with this concentration is mitigated because of the large number of clients and their
geographic dispersion.

Earnings Per Share

The weighted-average common shares outstanding used to calculate diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003 and 2002 include

2,175,348, 1,208,022 and 1,055,258 shares, respectively, to reflect the dilutive effect of unvested restricted stock and outstanding

options to purchase shares of common stock.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to use the intrinsic method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees (“APB 257), to account for its stock-based compensation arrangements (see Note 10). Compensation expense for stock options
is recognized to the extent the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant exceeds the exercise price of the option. The
Company recognizes compensation expense related to restricted stock awards over the vesting period of the underlying award in an
amount equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.

Pro forma information regarding net income and net income per share, shown in the table below, has been determined as if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS 123”). The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for 2003 and 2002, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 3.21%
and 4.86%; a dividend yield of 0.00%; volatility factors of the expected market price of the Company’s common stock of 0.407 and
0.420; and a weighted-average expected life of the options of seven years. The Company made no option grants in 2004.

The Company elected to use the intrinsic method in accounting for its stock-based compensation arrangements in part because
the alternative fair value accounting requires the use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing
employee stock options. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options, which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input
of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s employee stock options
have characteristics significantly different than those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable
single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

For the purpose of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting

period. Pro forma information is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Net income, as reported $39,119 $21,040 $16,653
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net income, net of related tax effects 4,097 2,216 287
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense (benefit) determined under fair value based

method for all awards, net of related tax effects 5,844 5,034 (15)
Pro forma net income $37,372 $18,222 $16,955

Net income per share:

Basic - as reported $ 1.12 $ 0.59 $ 047

Basic - pro forma $ 1.07 $ 051 $ 047
Net income per share:

Diluted — as reported $ 1.05 $ 057 $ 045

Diluted — pro forma $ 1.00 $ 0.50 $ 046

Guarantees

The Company accounts for its guarantees of the obligations of others in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements_for Guarantees, Including Direct Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 457). FIN 45 requires that guarantors
recognize a liability for certain guarantees at the fair value of the guaranteed obligation at the inception of the guarantee, even if the
likelihood of performance under the guarantee is remote. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable

on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. See Note 20 for disclosures related to the Company’s

guarantees in accordance with FIN 45,

Non-Controiling Interests in Consolidated Limited Life Subsidiaries
In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (“FAS 150”). Certain provisions of FAS 150 would have required the Company to classify non-

controlling interests in consolidated limited life subsidiaries as liabilities adjusted to their settlement values in the Company’s financial
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statements. In November 2003, the FASB indefinitely deferred application of the measurement and recognition provisions (but not the
disclosure requirements) of FAS 150 with respect to these non-controlling interests. As of December 31, 2004, the estimated settlement
value of non-controlling interests in the Company’s consolidated limited life subsidiaries is $9,859, as compared to book value
(included in minority interest on the Company’s balance sheet) of §7,497. The excess of settlement value over book value is driven by an
even larger estimated appreciation of certain consolidated real estate assets and investments from the Company’s book value, offset by

estimated selling cests and debt prepayment penalties, if any.

New Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment
(“FAS 123R”), which is a revision of FAS 123. Generally, the approach in FAS 123R is similar to the approach described in FAS 123.
However, FAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.

FAS 123R must be adopted no later than July 1, 2005. Early adoption will be permitted in periods in which financial statements
have not yet been issued. The Company expects to adopt FAS 123R on July 1, 2005. FAS 123R permits public companies to adopt its
requirements using one of two methods:

A “modified-prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date of adoption (a) based
on the requirements of FAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements
of FAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of FAS 123R that remain unvested on the effective date.

A “modified-rerrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified-prospective method described above, but
also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under FAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures either
(a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

The company plans to adopt FAS 123R using the modified-prospective method.

As permitted by FAS 123, the Company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB 25’ intrinsic value
method and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of FAS
123R’s fair value method could have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on
the Company’s overall financial position. The impact of adoption of FAS 123R cannot be predicted at this time because it will
depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had the Company adopted FAS 123R in 2002, 2003 and
2004, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of FAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net
income and earnings per share in this Note 1. FAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation
cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This
requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the company
cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise
stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax deductions were §542, $86 and

$170 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Note 2. Variable Interest Entities

The Company was involved in forming a legal entity to act primarily as an agent of the Company to enter into policies with insurance
carriers. The policies are for various types of insurance, including general liability, workers’ compensation and auto. The entity is wholly-
owned by an employee of the Company who holds the appropriate local insurance agent’s license required to issue these insurance
policies on behalf of the insurance carriers. The entity collects premiums and remits them to the insurance carriers. In exchange, the
entity receives commissions from the insurance carriers and remits a portion of the commission revenue to the Company (determined

at the Company’s full discretion) in accordance with a facilities and services agreement. Based upon its evaluation, the Company
consolidates this entity as the primary beneficiary of a VIE under FIN 46. The Company has $1,696 recorded in restricted cash and $400

recorded in cash and cash equivalents that serve as collateral for the VIE’s obligations to the insurance carriers.

®
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In September 2004, the Company issued a budget guaranty relating to a development project. Under the budget guaranty, the
Company is responsible for all costs in excess of an approved budgét of approximately $35,400. The Company was involved in the
design of the underlying entity and has determined that its budget guaranty represents a variable interest in a VIE for which the
Company is not the primary beneficiary. The Company cannot estimate its actual maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement
with this VIE because the budget guaranty is unlimited. However, based on the Company’s experience of minimal payments under
similar arrangements and the existence of a guaranteed maximum contract between the general contractor and the owner of the project
that mitigates the Company’s risk, the Company believes that its exposure to loss is minimal.

In December 2003, the Company sold a parcel of land for $1,750 to an independent third party (see Note 3). The consideration
received included a $1,125 interest-bearing note from the buyer which the Company has determined is a variable interest in a VIE.

The VIE is a single asset entity financed with the Company’s note and another loan subordinate to the Company’s note. Based on the
Company's evaluation, the Company is not the primary beneficiary of the entity, and therefore, has not consolidated the entity.

The Company's maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with this VIE is limited to its outstanding note balance of
$1,099 as of December 31, 2004,

The Company is part of a co-lender group with an independent third party that issued a mezzanine loan to the owner of two office
buildings. In April 2000, the Company provided $567 of the total $5,667 mezzanine loan. At that time, another independent third-
party lender provided the senior financing of §19,100 to the owner. The Company also provides building management and ]easing
services for the buildings under a long-term contract at market rates for such services. The mezzanine loan arrangement is
considered to be a variable interest in the entity that owns the property, which the Company believes is a VIE. However, based upon
the Company’s evaluation, the Company is not the primary beneficiary of the entity and therefore, the Company has not
consolidated the VIE. The VIE sold one of its buildings in December 2004 and paid a portion of the Company’s note receivable at that
time. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with this VIE is limited to its outstanding note
balance of $438 as of December 31, 2004.

In 2002, the Company paid §1,500 to an entity in exchange for entering into a management agreement and obtaining participation
rights in the residual cash flows of the entity available to its equity holders after repayment of debt. This arrangement is considered
to be a variable interest in the entity, which is a VIE. The Company holds no other interest in the entity. The entity is a single purpose
entity which owns and operates a real estate asset with an estimated fair value in excess of $90,000 as of D?cember 31, 2004.
Based on the Company’s evaluation, the Company is not the primary beneficiary of the entity and therefore, has not consolidated the
entity. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with this VIE is limited to $1,500 (recorded in other

assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet) as of December 31, 2004.

Note 3. Real Estate

The Company provides build-to-suit services for its clients and also develops or purchases certain projects which it intends to sell to
institutional investors upon project completion or redevelopment. Therefore, the Company has ownership of real estate until such
projects are sold. Certain real estate assets owned by the Company secure the outstanding balances of underlying mortgage or construction
loans. All real estate is included in the Company's Development and Investment segment (see Note 22). At December 31,

real estate consists of the following:

2004
Buildings and
Land Improvements Other Total

Real estate under development (current) $ 6,200 $14,556 $ — $ 20,756
Real estate included in assets held for sale (see Note 9) 2,664 1,281 — 3,945%
Real estate under development (non-current) 30,713 29,817 — 60,530
Real estate held for investment 94,932 39,676 1,146% 135,754

$134,509 $85,330 $1,146 $220,985
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2003
Buildings and
Land Improvements Other Total

Real estate under development (current) $ 25,502 $13,839 $ — $ 39,341
Real estate included in assets held for sale (see Note 9) 32,284 38,919 — 71,203%
Real estate under development (non-current) 5,760 ' 585 — 6,345
Real estate held for investment 36,837 13,1059 124® 50,066

$100,383 $66,448 $ 124 $166,955

(1) Net of atllowance of $0 and 31,048 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, to reflect assets at fair value less cost to sell.
(2) Net of accumulated depreciation of $1,000 and 8307 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(8) Includes balances for lease intangibles and tenant ovigination costs of $(1,238) and $2,384 at December 31, 2004, and $101 and $23 at December 31, 2003, respectively. The
Company records lease intangibles and tenant origination costs upon acquiring buildings with in-place leases. The balances are shoun net of amortization (recorded as a reduction of
rental income for lease intangibles and as amortization expense for tenant ovigination costs).

In 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded provisions for losses on real estate (included in general and administrative expenses or
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of income) of $94, $1,903 and $539, respectively, to increase the allowances on real
estate held for sale to reflect assets at fair value less cost to sell. With respect to one project to which these allowances relate, the related
non-recourse note payable matured in 2004, and the Company conveyed the underlying property to the lender in order to satisfy the note.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded writedowns for impairment of real estate (not classified as held for sale at
the time of such writedowns) totaling $578, $4,005, and $623, respectively. In 2004 and 2003, $120 and $2,826 of such impairments
are included in discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of income, and all remaining amounts in all periods are included
in general and administrative expenses.

The 2004 writedowns for impairment primarily relate to a vacant land parcel in a market in which rental rates continue to decline
and vacancy rates continue to increase. The Company obtained market comparisons for the land parcel and determined that, based
on those market comparisons, the value of the land was impaired. A portion of the 2004 and 2003 writedowns related to a real estate
project located in a market with high vacancy rates and other buildings likely to lease up prior to the Company’s building. The fair
value of the asset was based on market comparisons obtained by the Company. The Company sold the underlying asset and funded
$316 of the recourse note payable in August 2004. The 2003 writedowns also reflect impairment related to a single-tenant office/
industrial real estate project. The non-recourse note payable related to the project had matured and subsequently, the Company conveyed
the underlying property to the lender to satisfy the note. The fair value of the asset was determined based on a discounted cash flow
projection prior to the conveyance of the property to the lender.

In 2002, the Company recorded a writedown for impairment of $623 primarily related to a land parcel located in an office park
heavily dependent on the telecom industry. Due to significant layoffs in the telecom industry and the resulting vacancies in office space,
the Company obtained market comparisons for the land parcel and determined that, based on those market comparisons, the value
of the land was impaired.

In 2002, the Company recorded adjustments totaling $1,472 to the carrying amount of buildings and improvements previously
classified as “held for sale,” but reclassified to real estate held for investment, when adopting the provisions of FAS 144, The adjustments
were made to reflect depreciation that would have been recorded had the assets been continuously classified as real estate held for
investment since the Company’s acquisition of the assets. Of the total $1,472 adjustment, $1,260 was recorded as provision for losses
on real estate (included in general and administrative expenses in the statement of income). Certain assets owned by Trammell Crow
Investment Fund IV, L.P. (“Fund IV”), which was accounted for using the equity method until December 31, 2002 (see Note 5), were
reclassified from real estate held for sale to real estate held for investment. Accordingly, income from investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries (before income taxes) reflects an adjustment of $212 for depreciation on these assets since the reclassification of these
assets occurred prior to the consolidation of Fund IV by the Company.

Also in 2004, the Company sold a 150-acre land parcel to a third party for cash of $30,010. At the time of sale, a consolidated
subsidiary of the Company (other than the entity that sold the property) held a purchase contract on seven acres of the 150-acre land
parcel. As a result, the Company recorded the transaction specific to the seven-acre parcel as a financing transaction, rather than
a sale. As of December 31, 2004, real estate and other assets held for sale includes $344 of real estate, and liabilities related to real

estate and other assets held for sale includes 31,386 of notes payable related to this seven-acre land parcel.
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In 2003, the Company sold a parcel of land for $1,750 to an entity determined to be a VIE, of which §1,125 of the consideration
received was in the form of an interest-bearing note from the buyer (see Note 2). The Company retained a unilateral right to
repurchase the property at any time through 2006, in addition to maintaining the right to approve any plans for development on the
property. If the Company exercises its repurchase option, the Company would repay the amount it received from the buyer, plus a
return on the buyer’s investment. Because of the Company’s continuing involvement in and option to repurchase the property, the
transaction was recorded as a financing transdction rather than a sale. As of December 31, 2004, real estate and other assets held
for sale includes $1,408 of real estate and $1,099 of notes receivable, and liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale
includes $1,750 of notes payable and $211 of accrued interest related to this parcel of land.

The estimated costs to complete the 39 projects under development or to be developed by the Company as of December 31, 2004,
total $294,929. At December 31, 2004, the Company had commitments for the sale of four of the projects.

Rental revenues (which are included in development and construction revenue) and expenses (which are included in general and
administrative expenses) relating to the Company’s operational real estate properties, excluding those reported as discontinued
operations, were $10,081 and $7,115, respectively in 2004, $9,434 and $4,632, respectively, in 2003 and $15,271 and $6,354,

respectively, in 2002,

Note 4. Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

2004 2003
Owned assets, at cost $47,418 $61,427
Less: Accumulated depreciation on owned assets 30,388 41,011
17,030 20,416
Assets under capital leases 4,890 4,185
Less: Accumulated amortization on assets under capital leases 3,271 3,296
1,619 889
Less: Furniture and equipment, net, included in real estate and other assets held for sale (see Note 9) — 15
Furniture and equipment, net $18,649 $21,290
Note 5. Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries consist of the following at December 31:
2004 2003
Real estate $39,829 $35,546
Qther 34,261 29,479
$74,090 $65,025

As part of its real estate development activities, the Company has numerous investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, generally with
unaffiliated parties. These underlying entities typically own real estate investments and carry debt related to the financing of such real estate.
In 2004, the Company recorded a writedown for impairment of $536 related to an investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary
accounted for by the equity method. The unconsolidated subsidiary owns a suburban office building in a market which has experienced

high vacancies and where a planned major airport expansion, which was anticipated to positively impact the geographic area
where the building is located, has been delayed for a number of years. The Company reviewed the undiscounted cash flows expected to
be generated by the investment and determined that they are less than the carrying amount of the investment. Accordingly, the
investment was written down to its fair value determined based upon the expected present value of discounted cash flow projections.
The aggregate carrying amount of the Company’s cost method investments is $2,441 at December 31, 2004. The Company
evaluated the carrying amount of its cost method investments for impairment and determined that no impairment exists as of
December 31, 2004.
On December 31, 2002, the Company paid $13 to purchase all of the outstanding shares of common stock of Realty Holdings, Inc.
(“RHI"), a corporation that was formed to invest in real estate partnerships (the “RHI Purchase”). As a result, the Company became the
sole shareholder of RHI on such date. Prior to the RHI purchase, the Company had invested $100 in exchange for all of the 500 shares of

(w)
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non-voting preferred stock of RHI, and eleven individuals, all of whom were current or former executives of the Company, collectively
owned the 990 shares of outstanding common stock of RHI (with each of these individuals investing $1). These executives’ ownership of
common stock of RHI was not contingent on continued employment with the Company. However, a majority of the stockholders of RHI
had the ability to cause RHI to purchase any other stockholder’s shares of RHI at any time for any reason. RHI also had the right of first
refusal to purchase the shares of a common stockholder if such stockholder wished to sell his shares and had a bona fide written offer from
a third party. RHI is controlled by its Board of Directors, which is elected by the common shareholder(s). Each of the three directors

is an officer of the Company, but none was a stockholder of RHI. Through December 31, 2001, RHI had invested in five single-purpose
real estate projects as a 0.5% or 1.0% general partner, with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company as 99.5% or 99.0% limited
partners. RHI and the Company each had minimal investments in such subsidiaries, since the underlying real estate projects were 100%
financed with third-party debt.

RHI has controlling interests in each of the entities in which it invests. Prior to the RHI Purchase, the Company did not control
RHI and, as such, it accounted for its investment in RHI under the equity method and, accordingly, recorded its share of profits and
losses of such underlying entities as income (loss) from unconsolidated subsidiaries. As a result of the RHI Purchase, the Company
owns 100% of RHI, and accordingly, on December 31, 2002, began to account for RHI as a consolidated subsidiary.

RHI has a 0.5% general partnership interest in Fund 1V, a discretionary development and investment fund in which the Company
holds a 37.0% limited partnership interest, with the remaining limited partner interests held by unrelated parties. Since RHI controls
Fund IV, and RHI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as of December 31, 2002, the Company began consolidating Fund IV on
December 31, 2002.

The Company’s share of income (loss) of RHI and Fund IV was $341 and $(379), respectively, for 2002 (up to the time that RHI
and Fund IV were consolidated by the Company).

The consolidation of RHI and Fund IV on December 31, 2002, resulted in the following non-cash changes in the Company’s balance sheet:

Assets:
Real estate $67,208
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (6,001)
Accounts receivable 410
Notes and other receivables 27S
Other current assets 776
Other assets 47
Net non-cash change in assets 62,719
Liabilities:
Notes payable on real estate 47,341
Accounts payable 1,580
Accrued expenses 1,044
Other current liabilities 75
Net non-cash change in liabilities 50,040
Minority interest 14,552
Cash from consolidation of previously unconsolidated entities $ 1,873

The Company owns approximately 10% of the outstanding stock of Savills, a property services firm headquartered in the United
Kingdom and a leading provider of real estate services in Europe, Asia-Pacific and Australia. The investment is classified as an “other”
investment in the first table of this Note 5. The Company accounts for its interest in Savills on the equity method because it has significant
influence over Savills due to the following factors: (i) the Company has the right to designate two members of Savills’ board of directors
(which has significant influence over the management of Savills), which is comparable to the rights of investors owning approximately 20%
at the time the Company acquired the shares; and (ii) the Company has a strategically significant commercial relationship with Savills.

The Company also has an option giving it the right to purchase from Savills the number of shares necessary to increase its share ownership
to approximately 20% of the Savills shares then outstanding, This option is exercisable at any time during the period from May 9, 2003
through May 9, 2005 at 120% of the market price prevailing at the time of exercise. The Company’s portion of Savills’ undistributed
earnings totals $9,302 at December 31, 2004, and is included in retained earnings. The aggregate market value of the investment at

December 31, 2004, is $59,500, which exceeds its carrying value.
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Summarized financial information for unconsolidated subsidiaries accounted for on the equity method is as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003
Real Estate:
Real estate $287,791 $294,317
Other assets 50,482 28,898
Total assets $338,273 $323,215
Notes payable on real estate $160,799 $120,958
Other liabilities 9,986 12,806
Equity 167,488 189,451
Total liabilities and equity $338,273 $323,215
TFK Retail, Ltd.:"
Real estate $ — $101,106
Other assets — 4,870
Total assets $ — $105,976
Notes payable on real estate $ — $104,195
Other liabilities — 2,483
Equity — (702)
Total liabilities and equity $ — $105,976
Other:
Current assets $410,161 $327,632
Non-current assets 122,826 117,880
Total assets $532,987 $445,512
Current liabilities $282,425 $192,893
Non-current liabilities 37,445 65,803
Minority interest 303 1,003
Equity 212,814 185,813
Total liabilities and equity $532,987 $445,512
Total:
Assets $871,260 $874,703
Liabilities $490,655 $499,138
Minority interest 303 1,003
Equity 380,302 374,562
Total liabilities and equity $871,260 $874,703
Years Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002
Real Estate:
Total revenues $ 22,957 $ 25,945 $ 47,776
Total expenses 13,530 14,880 28,622
Net income $ 9,427 $ 11,065 $ 19,154
TFK Retail, Ltd.:®
Total revenues $ 38,311 $ 16,277 $ 16,307
Total expenses 2,289 20,938 17,238
Net income $ 36,022 $ (4,661) $ (93D
Other:
Total revenues $679,856 $558,802 $450,087
Total expenses 614,727 524,187 433,911
Net income $ 65,129 $ 34,615 $ 16,176
Total:
Total revenues $741,124 $601,024 $514,170
Total expenses 630,546 560,005 479,771
Net income $110,578 $ 41,019 $ 34,399

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2004, TFK Retail, Ltd. (*TFK”), an entity that held a porifolio of real estate assets, represents a significant subsidiary in accordance with Rule 3-09 of
Regulation §-X. The Company holds a 16.97 % ownership interest in TFK, which disposed of all its assets in 2004.
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Note 6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following at December 31:

2004 2003

Payroll and bonuses $ 67,315 $ 42,316
Commissions 36,171 38,337
Development costs 16,601 15,045
Deferred income 13,160 5,691
Interest 455 1,175
insurance 2,150 3,032
Restructuring charges (see Note 17) 1,902 1,864
Other 11,229 9,584
148,983 117,044
Less: Accrued expenses included in liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale {(See Note 9) 225 2,722
$148,758 $114,322

Note 7. Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Long-term debt consists of the fol]owing at December 31:
2004 2003

Borrowings under $150,000 line of credit with a bank (the “Credit Facility") $ — $10,000
Borrowings under a $25,000 discretionary line of credit with a bank — —
Borrowings under a £3,900 short-term borrowing facility with a bank (the “European Facility") -— —
Other 14 1,095
Total long-term debt 14 11,095
Less: Current portion of long-term debt 6 1,081
$ 8 $10,014

During June 2002, the Company entered into the Credit Facility. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are due in June 2005, and
bear interest at 1) the greater of prime or the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%, plus a margin up to 0.75%, or 2) the
Eurocurrency rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.5%, payable monthly. The weighted average interest rate for borrowings
under the Credit Facility was 2.89% in 2004,

The shares of certain subsidiaries of the Company, accounting for at least 80% of Adjusted Gross EBITDA, as defined in the Credit
Facility agreement, are pledged as security for the Credit Facility.

The Company is subject to various covenants associated with the Credit Facility, such as maintenance of minimum equity and
liquidity and certain key financial data. In addition, the Company may not pay dividends or make other distributions on account of its
common stock exceeding 50% of the previous year’s net income before depreciation and amortization, and there are certain
restrictions on investments and acquisitions that can be made by the Company. In September 2004, the Credit Facility was amended,
primarily to permit certain stock transactions, including the Company’s Modified Dutch Auction tender offer (see Note 10). At
December 31, 2004, the Company is in compliance with all covenants of the Credit Facility, except the interest rate agreement
requirement as discussed in this Note 7 (which noncompliance was waived as herein discussed).

The covenants associated with the Credit Facility and the amount of the Company’s other borrowings and contingent liabilities may
have the effect of limiting the borrowing capacity available to the Company under the Credit Facility to an amount less than the
$150,000 commitment. At December 31, 2004, the Company hés unused borrowing capacity of §126,454 (taking into account letters
of credit outstanding) under its Credit Facility.

Under the Credit Facility, the Company pays a quarterly fee equal to 0.25% of the unused commitments under the line. In
addition, the Credit Facility requires the Company to enter into one or more interest rate agreements for the Company’s floating rate
indebtedness in excess of $30,000 (other than construction loans under which interest is capitalized in accordance with GAAP)
ensuring the net interest is fixed, capped or hedged. The Company was not in compliance with the Credit Facility’s interest rate
agreement requirement at December 31, 2004. The Company held §1,542 of floating rate indebtedness (in excess of the $30,000
allowed under the Credit Facility), which was not subject to the interest rate cap agreement (see Note 19). The Company obtained a
waiver effective February 28, 2005, from the lenders under the Credit Facility waiving compliance with this covenant for the period

commencing on December 31, 2004, until, but not including, June 30, 2005.
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Borrowings under the Company’s $25,000 discretionary line of credit are unsecured and reduce the borrowing capacity under the
Credit Facility dollar for dollar. Each loan under the line matures in five business days, no later than June 28, 2005. Each loan bears
interest at a rate agreed upon between the Company and the bank (weighted average borrowing rate of 2.89% in 2004), payable at the
maturity of each loan.

The European Facility is held by the Company’s European outsourcing subsidiary. Borrowings under the European Facility are
payable on demand, bear interest at the bank’s base rate plus 2.75% (weighted average borrowing rate of 5.95% in 2004), are payable
quarterly, and are recourse to the Company.

Principal maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2004, are as follows:

2005 $6
2006 5
2007 3

$14

The Company has obligations under capital leases, primarily for furniture and equipment, with maturity dates through December
2005, and bearing interest at various rates ranging from 0.41% to 7.53% per annum at December 31, 2004. Capital Jease obligations
are secured by the underlying assets.

Capital lease obligations consist of the following at December 31:

2004 2003
Capital lease obligations $363 $2,011
Less: Current portion of capital lease obligations 363 1,297
$ — $ 714
Future minimum payments under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2004, are as follows:
2005 $366
Less: Amount representing interest 3
Present value of net minimum lease payments $363

Note 8. Notes Payable on Real Estate
The Company has loans secured by real estate (the majority of which are construction loans) consisting of the following at

December 31:

2004 2003
Current portion of notes payable on real estate $ 21,937 $ 47,235
Notes payable on real estate included in liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale (see Note 9) 5,111 48,913
Total notes payable on real estate, current portion 27,048 96,148
Notes payable on real estate, non-current portion 122,656 7,118
Total notes payable on real estate $149,704 $103,266

Notes payable on real estate held for sale are included in liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale. Notes payable
on real estate under development (current) are included in current portion of notes payable on real estate. Notes payable on real estate
under development (non-current) and real estate held for investment are classified according to payment terms and maturity date.

At December 31, 2004, $9,370 of the current portion and $18,178 of the non-current portion of notes payable on real estate are
recourse to the Company (beyond being recourse to the single-purpose entity that holds the real estate asset and is the obligor on the note
payable). With respect to a project to which $3,322 of the current recourse obligations relate, the Company has an agreement
with an investor client to purchase the project upon completion, the proceeds of which will be used to repay the related note payable.

Principal maturities of notes payable on real estate at December 31, 2004, are as follows:

2005 $ 13,372
2006 34,491
2007 96,460
2008 5,381

$148,704
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Interest rates on loans outstanding at December 31, 2004, range from 4.06% to 12.0%. Generally, interest only is payable on the
real estate loans (and is generally drawn on the underlying construction loan), with all unpaid principal and interest due at maturity.
Capitalized interest in 2004 and 2003 totaled $10,898 and $2,726, respectively.

In 2003, in conjunction with the purchase of a real estate project held for investment, the Company assumed the seller’s obligations
on a note with respect to the project, resulting in a non-cash increase in notes payable on real estate totaling $796.

The Company has a participating mortgage loan obligation related to a real estate project that is classified as real estate under
development (non-current). The participating mortgage loan is subordinate to a construction loan on the underlying project. The
lender participates in net operating cash flow of the mortgaged real estate project, if any, and capital proceeds, net of related expenses,
upor.1 the sale of the project, after payment of amounts due under the construction loan. The lender receives 6% fixed interest on the
outstanding balance of its note, compounded monthly, and participates in 35% to 80% of proceeds remaining after the construction
loan is paid, based on reaching various internal rates of return. The amount of the participating liability and the related debt discount
are $10,030 and $4,894, respectively, at December 31, 2004. In 2004, the Company amortized $5,136 of the debt discount, which has

been capitalized to real estate under development (non-current).

Note 9. Real Estate and Other Assets Held for Sale and Related Liabilities

Real estate and other assets held for sale include completed real estate projects or land for sale in their present condition that have met
all of the “held for sale” criteria of FAS 144 and other assets directly related to such projects. Liabilities related to real estate and other
assets held for sale have been included as a single line item in the Company’s balance sheet. In accordance with FAS 144, balances related
to assets classified as held for sale at December 31, 2004, that were not classified as such at December 31, 2003, have been reclassified to
real estate and other assets held for sale in the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2003.

Real estate and other assets held for sale and related liabilities are as follows at December 31:

2004 2003

Assets:

Notes and other receivables $1,099 $ 1,285

Real estate held for sale (see Note 3) 3,945 71,203

Other current assets 1 1,481

Furniture and equipment, net — 15

Other assets — 66
Total real estate and other assets held for sale 5,045 74,050
Liabilities:

Accrued expenses see Note 6) 225 2,722

Notes payabfe on real estate held for sale (see Note 8) 5,111 48913

Other current liabilities — 142
Total liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale 5,336 51,777
Net real estate and other assets held for sale $ (291) $22,273

Note 10. Stockholders' Equity

The holders of shares of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote
of common stockholders. Each share of common stock is entitled to participate equally in dividends, when and if declared, and in the
distribution of assets in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, subject in all cases to any rights of
outstanding shares of preferred stock.

In September 2004, the Company commenced a Modified Dutch Auction tender offer whereby it offered to purchase up to
4,444,444 shares of its common stock. Under the terms of the tender offer, the Company invited stockholders to tender their shares at
a purchase price not in excess of $15.75 nor less than $13.50 per share. The tender offer was completed in October 2004, and as a
result, the Company purchased 2,354,437 shares of common stock priced at $15.75 per share for a total of 837,934, including the
costs of the tender offer. The transaction was financed from the Company’s available cash, and the Company placed the repurchased

shares in treasury.
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Under the Trammell Crow Company 1997 Option Plan (the “Assumed Option Plan”), the Company issued options to purchase
2,423,769 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $3.85 per share. All options available under the Assumed
Option Plan were granted on August 1, 1997. The options vested at the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on
December 1, 1997, and became exercisable 30 days after that date. The options expire 10 years from the date of grant and are not
contingent on continued employment with the Company. At December 31, 2004, common shares reserved for future issuance
under the Assumed Option Plan total 896,135,

The Trammell Crow Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Long-Term Plan”) originally provided for the issuance of up to 5,334,878
shares of common stock. In May 1999, the Long-Term Plan was amended to increase the number of shares available for future awards
to 8,634,878 shares of common stock. Options to acquire shares of common stock granted by the Company under the Long-Term
Plan have exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant and expire 7 to 10 years from
the date of grant.

Except for options granted to members of the Board of Directors and options granted in connection with acquisitions of real
estate service companies, options vest over periods ranging from three to five years, and generally have partial vesting on anniversaries
of the grant date.

The Long-Term Plan also provides for the awards of Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock and Performance Units. In 2004,
2003 and 2002, the Company granted 671,313 shares, 1,636,500 shares and 30,000 shares, respectively, of restricted stock under the
Long-Term Plan. The restricted stock vests over periods of up to five years. The weighted-average grant date fair value per share
of the Company’s restricted stock issued in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $12.90, $8.75 and $13.90, respectively. The Company recognized
compensation expense of $6,605, 83,727 and $519 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to the grants of restricted
stock, net of forfeitures,

At December 31, 2004, common shares reserved for future issuance under the Long-Term Plan total 6,079,903 shares, of which
1,033,722 common shares are available for future awards.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002, is as follows:

2004
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Exercise Price of $9.74 of $14.51 of $22.76
of $3.85 (below to $14.50 to $22.75 to $36.00
market price (at market price (at market price (at market price
at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) Total
Options outstanding:
Beginning of year 956,649 3,207,925 2,086,341 151,738 6,402,654
Granted — — — — —
Exercised (60,514) (111,375) — — (171,889)
Forfeited — (91,625) (165,206) (7,118 (263,949)
Expired — — — — —
End of year 896,135 3,004,925 1,921,135 144,621 5,966,816
Weighted-average exercise price of options:
Granted —_ — — —
Exercised $ 385 $ 11.21 — —
Forfeited — $ 11.20 $ 17.62 $ 30.91
Outstanding at end of year $ 3.85 $ 11.76 $ 17.70 $ 28.66
Weighted-average fair value of options granted — — — -
Weighted-average remaining contractual life 2.6 years 4.4 years 3.6 years 3.3 years

Options exercisable:
Number of options 896,135 2,222,051 1,921,135 144,621 5,183,942
Weighted-average exercise price $ 3.85 $ 11.54 $ 17.70 $ 28.66
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2003
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Exercise Price of $9.74 of $14.51 of $22.76
of $3.85 (below to $14.50 to $22.75 to $36.00

market price

(at market price

(at market price

(at market price

at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) Total
Cptions outstanding:
Beginning of year 1,017,395 3,295,486 2,285,885 165,447 6,764,213
Granted — 153,314 — — 153,314
Exercised (60,746) (59,000) — — (119,746)
Forfeited — (181,875) (199,544) (13,708) (395,127)
Expired — — — — —
End of year 956,649 3,207,925 2,086,341 151,739 6,402,654
Weighted-average exercise price of options:
Granted — $ 9.74 — —
Exercised $ 385 $ 10.94 — —
Forfeited — $ 11.95 $ 17.66 $ 32.10
Outstanding at end of year $ 385 $ 11.73 $ 17.70 $ 28.76
Weighted-average fair value of options granted — $ 4.63 — —
Weighted-average remaining contractual life 3.6 years 5.4 years 4.6 years 4.4 years
Options exercisable:
Number of options 956,649 1,642,633 2,049,674 151,739 4,800,695
Weighted-average exercise price $ 385 $ 11.29 $ 17.69 $ 2876
2002
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Exercise Price of $9.74 of $14.51 of $22.76
of $3.85 (below to $14.50 to $22.75 to $36.00
market price (at market price (at market price (at market price
at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) at grant date) Total
Options outstanding:
Beginning of year 1,288,179 2,863,453 2,979,552 217,298 7,348,482
Granted — 1,228,533 — — 1,228,533
Exercised (270,784) (65,000) — — (335,784)
Forfeited — (731,500) (693,667) (51,851) (1,477,018)
Expired — — — — —
End of year 1,017,395 3,295,486 2,285,885 165,447 6,764,213
Weighted-average exercise price of options:
Granted — $ 13.90 — —
Exercised $ 3.85 $ 11.08 — -
Forfeited — $ 11.51 $ 17.62 $ 31.64
Qutstanding at end of year $ 3.85 $ 11.82 $ 17.69 $ 29.04
Weighted-average fair vatue of options granted — $ 7.18 — —
Weighted-average remaining contractual life 4.6 years 6.3 years 5.6 years 5.3 years
Options exercisable:
Number of options 1,017,395 925,028 2,082,132 152,103 4,176,658
Weighted-average exercise price $ 3.85 $ 11.15 $ 17.70 $ 29.09
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Note 11. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31:

2004 2003 2002
Current
Federal : $ 22,061 $ 11,505 $ 7,133
State 4,454 2,323 1,440
International 743 (384) 731
27,258 13,444 9,304
Deferred
Federal (2,749) 754 3,401
State (555) 152 686
(3,304) 906 4,087

$ 23,954 $ 14,350 $ 13,391

The components of the net domestic deferred tax asset are summarized below as of December 31:

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets
Impairment of investments $ 14,539 $ 16,630
Compensation expense relating to restricted stock 5,526 2,784
Compensation expense relating to stock options 4,473 4,798
Dispositions of real estate 4,017 256
Insurance reserves 1,374 —
Depreciation and amortization 1,190 1,740
Bad debts 1,111 1,151
Restructuring charges relating to future rent expense 607 732
Basis difference on real estate — 342
Other 3,810 3,050
36,647 31,483
Less: valuation allowance 961 1,026
Tota! deferred tax assets 35,686 30,457
Deferred tax liabilities
Goodwill amortization (3,973) (2,648)
Foreign currency translation adjustments ] (1,897) (1,223)
Basis difference on real estate (585) —
Other - (2,275) (2,934)
Total deferred tax liabilities (8,730) (6,805)
Net deferred tax asset $ 26,956 $ 23,652
The components of the net international deferred tax asset are summarized below as of December 31:
2004 2003
Deferred tax asset
International tex attribute carryforwards $1,739 $1,217
Less: valuation allowance 1,739 1217
Net deferred tax asset $ — $ —

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, requires a valuation allowance to reduce the
deferred tax assets reported if, based on the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. After consideration of all the evidence, both positive and negative, the Company has determined that
valuation allowances required at December 31, 2004, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts that will more likely than not be
realized are $961 relating to certain nonqualified stock options and $1,739 relating to international tax attribute carryforwards. The
changes in valuation allowances for the current year are a decrease of §65 for the domestic deferred tax asset and an increase of $522

for the international deferred tax asset.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Components of deferred income taxes are as follows at December 31:

2004 2003
Current $ 4,021 $ 3,754
Noncurrent 22,935 19,898
Net deferred tax asset $26,956 $23,652

The differences between the provisions for income taxes and the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal income tax

rates to income from continuing operations before income taxes for the years ended December 31 are:

2004 2003 2002

Tax at statutory rate applied to income from continuing operations before income taxes $12,432 $11,829 $ 8,856
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1,523 1,450 1,086
Non-deductible meals 756 704 727
Change in international valuation allowance 522 280 848
International 221 (664) (117)
Change in domestic valuation allowance (65) 346 (702)
Income from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (1,640) (743) (259)
Other (370) 1,099 251

$13,379 $14,301 $10,690

Note 12. Operating Leases
The Company has commitments under operating leases for office space and office equipment. During the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, rent expense was $23,197, 22,909 and $25,353, respectively.

Minimum future rentals to be paid and received under noncancelable operating lease and sublease commitments in effect at

December 31, 2004, are as follows:

Leases Subleases Net

2005 $21,164 $(1,481) $19,683
2006 17,720 (1,091) 16,629
2007 12,637 (660) 11,977
2008 7,969 (62) 7,907
2009 5,800 (16) 5,784
Thereafter 3,934 — 3,934

$69,224 $ (3,310) $65,914

Note 13. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company's employees participate in a defined contribution savings plan, which provides the opportunity for pretax contributions by
employees. The Company matches 50% of the employee’s contributions up to 6% of the employee’s annual earnings or a maximum of
$7 per employee per annum. The Company’s contribution expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002, including amounts reimbursed by clients,
was $7,799, $7,035 and $7,102, respectively.

The Company has also established the Trammell Crow Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). Employees may elect
to have bi-weekly payroll deductions of 1% to 10% of gross earnings, which is used to purchase, on a semi-annual basis, stock of the
Company at a 15% discount from market value. The ESPP is available to all employees and requires a six-month holding period for
stock purchased under the plan. The Company has reserved 2,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the ESPP, of which
1,863,125 have been issued as of December 31, 2004. In December 2004, the Company amended the ESPP (subject to stockholder
apioroval) to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance by 1,000,000 shares, increase the required
holding period to twelve months, and establish the date of issuance as the date to value the shares for purposes of establishing the

per share purchase price.
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Note 14. Gain on Disposition of Real Estate and Discontinued Operations

Real estate dispositions excluding those accounted for as discontinued operations during the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Projects sold 18 19 36
Net sale price $127,325 $67,115 $142,149
Gain on sale $ 28,795 $13,420 $ 24,217

The net sale prices for 2004 and 2003 noted above include notes receivable for $14,250 and $230, respectively, from purchasers
of real estate projects. ‘

In September 2004, the Company sold a real estate project for $15,875. The Company is leasing back a portion of the space in the
project, and also had other continuing obligations to the buyer at the time of the sale. As a result, the transaction, initially recorded as a
financing transaction, was ultimately accounted for as a sale when the continuing obligation period ended in the fourth quarter of
2004. The gain on this sale will be recognized over the Company’s lease term.

In 2004, the Company conveyed a multi-tenant industrial real estate project to the lender in order to satisfy the underlying non-
recourse note that had matured. With respect to this disposition, the Company recorded a loss on disposition of real estate of $3,
including $61 of income from extinguishment of debt. The transaction resulted in a non-cash decrease in real estate and other assets
held for sale of §10,593 (increase in accounts receivable of §2, decrease in other current assets of $164, decrease in real estate
held for sale of $§10,698 and a decrease in other assets of $93), and a non-cash reduction in liabilities related to real estate and other
assets held for sale of $10,950 (increase in accounts payable of $57, decrease in accrued expenses of $273 and a decrease in notes
payable on real estate of §10,734).

In 2004, the Company sold its 100% interest in a consolidated subsidiary, which owned a partially-developed building, to an
unrelated party for a net sales price of $808. The transaction resulted in a non-cash decrease in real estate and other assets held for sale
of $3,032 (real estate held for sale of $2,951 and other assets of $81), a decrease in accounts receivable (included in real estate and
other assets held for sale) of $4, and a non-cash reduction in liabilities related to real estate and other assets held for sale of $§3,029
(decrease in accounts payable of 8202 and a decrease in notes payable on real estate of $2,827). The Company expects to recognize a
gain on disposition of $§789 as a result of this transaction. The Company is recognizing the gain based on the percentage-of-completion
method of profit recognition because it retained the obligation to complete the in-process development activities. As of December 31,
2004, 3357 of the gain was recognized with the balance of the expected gain deferred into future periods.

In 2003, the Company conveyed a single-tenant office/industrial real estate project to the lender in order to satisfy the underlying
non-recourse note that had matured. With respect to this disposition, the Company recorded a gain on disposition of real estate of
$798, of which $677 was extinguishment of debt. Also in 2003, the Company sold its 50% partnership interest in a consolidated
subsidiary to the other partner in the partnership for a net sales price of $1,032. The transaction resulted in a non-cash decrease in
real estate and other assets held for sale of $11,004 (accounts receivable of $4 and real estate held for sale of $11,000), a decrease in
cash (included in real estate and other assets held for sale) of 892, and a non-cash reduction in liabilities related to real estate and
other assets held for sale of $11,804 (decrease in accounts payable of $61, increase in accrued expenses of $164 and a decreasc in notes
payable on real estate of $11,907), and a non-cash increase in minority interest of $210. The Company recognized a gain on
disposition of $1,530 as a result of this transaction.

In connection with a sale in 2002, the purchaser assumed a portion of the Company’s note with respect to such project, resulting
in a non-cash decrease in notes payable on real estate totaling $12,000. The Company repaid the remaining balance of the note with the
sales proceeds, The Company recorded a loss on disposition of real estate related to this project tota]ing $797.

In 2002, upon substantial completion of two real estate projects under development, the Company and outside partners contributed
a total of $2,703 and $30,398, respectively, to the Company’s consolidated real estate subsidiaries owning such projects. The
were used to pay off debt totaling $33,101, and the Company was released from its guarantees relating to such debt. As it no longer
exercised control over the entities, the Company began using the equity method of accounting for these two real estate subsidiaries,
resulting in a non-cash reduction of real estate held for sale totaling $33,776 and a non-cash increase in investments in unconsolidated

subsidiaries totaling $675. Also in 2002, the Company contributed its interest in a real estate project to a new partnership owned
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48% by the Company, 32% by a non-wholly-owned partnership controlled and consolidated by the Company and 20% by partners
unrelated to the Company. Because the outside partners control the new partnership, the Company accounts for its interest in this
partnership as an equity method investment. The transaction resulted in a non-cash reduction in real estate held for sale totaling
$23,711, a non-cash reduction in notes payable on real estate held for sale totaling $9,400, a non-cash reduction in accrued interest
totaling $795, a non-cash increase in investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries totaling $18,310, and a non-cash increase in minority
interest totaling $4,000. Additionally, in another transaction during 2002, the partnership agreement of a real estate partnership that
was consolidated by the Company was amended, eliminating the Company’s control of the partnership. As it no longer exercised
control over the partnership, the Company began using the equity method of accounting for this real estate subsidiary, resulting in a
non-cash reduction in real estate held for sale of $15,931, a non-cash reduction in notes payable on real estate held for sale of
$10,821, a non-cash increase in investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries of $1,591, and a non-cash reduction in minority interest of
$3,710. No gains or losses were recognized on these transactions.

Real estate dispositions accounted for as discontinued operations under FAS 144 during the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Projects sold 4 4 4
Net sale price $77,960 $25,064 $31,151
Gain on sale $40,481 $ 5336 $ 6,559

The components of discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Revenues:
Development and construction $ 377 $ 182 $ 416
Gain on disposition of real estate 40,481 5,336 6,559
$ 40,858 $ 5,518 $ 6,975
Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits — 55 110
Commissions 1,375 279 423
General and administrative 454 3,588 243
Depreciation S0 214 —
Amortization — 4 14
Interest 257 1,281 127
2,176 5,421 917
Operating income 38,682 97 6,058
Interest and other income 5 25 1
Income from discontinued operations, before income taxes 38,687 122 6,059
Income tax expense (10,575) (49) (2,701)
Minority interest (10,841) — —
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ 17,271 $ 73 $ 3,358

Note 15. Intangible Assets and Acquisitions of Real Estate Service Companies

In 2003, the Company strengthened and extended through 2008 its strategic alliance with Savills, The strategic alliance was initially
formed in 2000 for the purposes of providing each company’s clients access to the commercial real estate service capabilities of the
other. As part of the 2003 agreement, the Company subscribed to $9 of additional capital in Trammell Crow Savills Limited, the
Company’s consolidated European venture jointly owned with Savills, effectively increasing the Company’s ownership in this venture to
approximately 95%. In addition, the Company purchased all of Savills’ ownership in Trammell Crow Savills Asia-Pacific Limited, the
Company’s consolidated Asian joint venture, for a nominal amount, increasing the Company’s ownership of this venture to substantially
100%. While the Company recorded no gain or loss on this transaction, it recorded a non-cash increase in minority interest of $639,
and an offsetting non-cash decrease in furniture and equipment. In 2004, the Company acquired Savills’ remaining 5% ownership in

Trammell Crow Savills Limited for nominal consideration.



Trammell Crow Company

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31:

2004 2003
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Contract intangibles $13,672 $(10,210) $13,299 $ (8,181)
Employment contracts and noncompete agreements 8,584 (8,584) 11,201 (10,952)
Acqguired management contracts 4,026 (4,026) 8,094 (7,546}
$26,282 $(22,820) $32,594 $(26,679)

In 2002, the Company recorded a writedown of §1,149, recognized as a reduction of fac